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Unless the context requires otherwise, references in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to “Enzon,” the
“Company,” “we,” “us,” or “our” and similar terms mean Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its subsidiaries.
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the “safe harbor” provisions of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. All statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, other than
statements that are purely historical, are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements can be identified by the
use of forward-looking terminology such as “believes,” “expects,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “potential,”
“anticipates,” “estimates,” “plans,” “would,” or “intends” or the negative thereof, or other variations thereof, or comparable
terminology, or by discussions of strategy. Forward-looking statements are based upon management’s present expectations,
objectives, anticipations, plans, hopes, beliefs, intentions or strategies regarding the future and are subject to risks and
uncertainties that could cause actual results, events or developments to be materially different from those indicated in such
forward-looking statements, including the risks and uncertainties set forth in Item 1A. Risk Factors of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K. These risks and uncertainties should be considered carefully and readers are cautioned not to place undue
reliance on such forward-looking statements. We cannot assure that the future results covered by the forward-looking
statements will be achieved. All information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K speaks only as of the date of the filing of
this report, unless otherwise indicated. We do not intend to update this information to reflect events after the date of this
report.
Our website is located at www.enzon.com. Copies of our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, our Quarterly Reports on
Form 10-Q, our Current Reports on Form 8-K and our other reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(the “SEC”) can be obtained, free of charge, as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed
with, or furnished to the SEC, by calling (732) 980-4500, by clicking the SEC Filings link from the Investors and Media
page on our website at www.enzon.com or directly from the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov. Our website and the
information contained therein or connected thereto are not incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
FORM 10-K
ENZON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
PART I.
Item 1. Business
OVERVIEW
Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, the “Company,” “Enzon,” “we” or “us”) is positioned
as a public company acquisition vehicle, where we can become an acquisition platform and more fully utilize our net
operating loss carryforwards (“NOLs”) and enhance stockholder value.
In September 2020, we initiated a rights offering (the “Rights Offering”) for our common and preferred stock,
which closed in October 2020 (see below and Note 13 to our Consolidated Financial Statements), and we realized $43.6
million in gross proceeds. This has enabled us to embark on our plan to realize the value of our approximately $103.4
million NOLs by acquiring potentially profitable businesses or assets. To protect the NOLs, in August 2020, our Board of
Directors (the “Board”) adopted a Section 382 rights plan (see Note 12 to our Consolidated Financial Statements).
Historically, we have received royalty revenues from licensing arrangements with other companies primarily
related to sales of certain drug products that utilized Enzon’s proprietary technology. In recent years, we have had no
clinical operations and limited corporate operations. We have a marketing agreement relating to the drug Vicineum, which,
if approved, will potentially generate milestone and royalty payments to us in the future. We cannot assure you that we will
earn material future royalties or milestones.
Acquisition Activities
Our Board and our management are actively involved in pursuing, sourcing, reviewing, and evaluating various
potential acquisition transactions consistent with our long-term strategy. Our management and our Board have originated a
number of potential acquisition opportunities and engaged in discussions with certain potential acquisition targets and
financial advisors on behalf of various individual entities, while continuing to evaluate such potential transactions. We will
continue to update our stockholders as material developments arise.
Royalty and Milestone Agreements and Revenues
Prior to 2017, we received royalty revenues from sales of PegIntron, which is marketed by Merck & Co., Inc.
(“Merck”). In 2020 and 2021 net royalties from PegIntron have not been significant. There is a dispute with Merck
regarding royalties (see Note 4 to our Consolidated Financial Statements). We have a licensing agreement regarding SC
Oncaspar and certain other drugs.
In 2021, we earned total milestones revenues of approximately $702,000 from Sesen, Inc. (See Note 1 to our
Consolidated Financial Statements).
During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, we received a license maintenance fee of approximately
$28,000 and $30,000, respectively, from Amgen, Inc. in payment of a worldwide, royalty-free non-exclusive right to
license Vicineum. (See Note 1 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.)
Patents and Intellectual Property Rights
We have a portfolio of issued U.S. patents, many of which have foreign counterparts. Of the patents owned or
exclusively licensed by us, one relates to PegIntron. The patent related to PegIntron (peginterferon alfa-2b) expired in the
United States in 2016 and expired outside of the United States in 2018 (including any patent term extensions), except for
Japan, where the patent expired in 2021, Malaysia, where the patent expired in 2020, and Chile, where it will expire in
2024. Although we believe that our patents provide certain protection from competition and we may be entitled to potential
royalty rights and/or milestone payments, we cannot assure you that such patents will be of substantial protection or
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commercial benefit to us, will afford us adequate protection from competing products, or will not be challenged or declared
invalid. In addition, we cannot assure you that additional U.S. patents or foreign patent equivalents will be issued to us. At
this time, we do not expect to apply for or receive any additional patents.
Patents for individual products extend for varying periods according to the date of patent filing or grant and the
legal term of patents in the various countries where patent protection is obtained. Many of our patents have expired or are
nearing the end of their patent protection period. The actual protection afforded by a patent, which can vary from country
to country, depends upon the type of patent, the scope of its coverage and the availability of legal remedies in the country.
EMPLOYEES AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
We currently have no employees. Our executive officer provides services to us on a consulting basis.
Item 1A. Risk Factors
Our business, financial condition and results of operations may be impacted by one or more of the following
factors, any of which could cause actual results to vary materially from historical and current results or anticipated future
results.
Risks Relating to the Company and its Operations
Our search for a business, company or assets to acquire or in which to invest may be unsuccessful, and we may fail
to maximize our return on the proceeds of our Rights Offering and/or realize the value of our NOLs.
We are positioned as a public company acquisition vehicle, where we can become an acquisition platform and
more fully utilize our NOLs and enhance stockholder value. We intend to acquire profitable businesses, entities or revenue
streams that will generate sufficient income so that we can utilize our approximately $103.4 million NOLs. However, we
do not have any current plans, arrangements or understandings with respect to any acquisitions or investments, and we
have not identified any actionable acquisition candidates. We will have significant discretion in the use of the net proceeds
of our Rights Offering, and it is possible that we will fail to maximize our return on such proceeds. While we expect that,
ultimately, we will be successful in realizing the value of our NOLs, we cannot assure you that we will be able to do so.
The COVID-19 pandemic may continue to disrupt the approval and manufacture of products for which we share
the right to receive licensing fees, milestone payments and royalties and may negatively impact our search for an
acquisition target, and the business and/or results of operations of any target business that we acquire or in which
we invest.
Despite recent progress in the administration of vaccines, both the outbreak of recent variants, including Delta and
Omicron, and the related containment measures that have been put in place across the globe, have had and are likely to
continue to have a serious adverse impact on the global economy and may adversely affect our business operations. The
ongoing global health crisis (including resurgences) resulting from the pandemic have disrupted, and continue to disrupt,
the normal operations of many businesses, including restrictions such as the temporary closure or scale-back of business
operations and/or the imposition of either quarantine or remote work requirements for employees, either by government
order or on a voluntary basis. It is impossible to predict the effect and ultimate impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, as the
situation is continually evolving. The COVID-19 pandemic may continue to disrupt the global supply chain and may cause
disruptions to our operations, financial condition and prospects.
At the present time, our own business activities have been largely unaffected by COVID-19 restrictions as our
workforce is comprised solely of independent contractors who are able to perform their duties remotely. However, these
restrictions may impact the third parties who are responsible for obtaining final approval of and manufacturing product
candidates for which we share the right to receive licensing fees, milestone payments and royalty revenues. If those third
parties are required to curtail their business activities for a significant time, or if global supply chain disruptions impact
their ability to procure needed resources, raw materials or components, our right to receive licensing fees, milestone
payments or royalties could be materially and adversely affected. Additionally, the development timeline for product
candidates that are pending FDA approval could be delayed if the agency is required to shift resources to the review and
approval of candidates for treatment of COVID-19.
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In addition, the business and/or results of operations of any potential target business, that we acquire or in which
we invest, could be materially and adversely affected. Furthermore, we may be unable to complete any such acquisitions or
investments if continued concerns relating to COVID-19 restrict travel, limit the ability to have meetings with potential
investors or the target company’s personnel, vendors and service providers are unavailable to negotiate and consummate a
transaction in a timely manner or if COVID-19 causes a prolonged economic downturn. The extent to which COVID-19
impacts our search for a business to acquire or in which to invest will depend on future developments, which are highly
uncertain and cannot be predicted, including new information which may emerge concerning the severity of COVID-19
and the actions to contain COVID-19 or treat its impact, among others. If the disruptions posed by COVID-19 or other
matters of global concern continue for an extensive period of time, our ability to consummate a business acquisition or
investment, or the business and/or results of operations of a target business with which we ultimately consummate an
acquisition or investment, may be materially adversely affected.
The degree to which the COVID-19 pandemic ultimately impacts our business and results of operations, including
our ability to acquire profitable businesses, entities or revenue streams, will depend on future developments beyond our
control, including the severity of the pandemic, the extent of actions to contain the virus, availability of a vaccine or other
treatment, how quickly and to what extent normal economic and operating conditions can resume and the severity and
duration of any global economic recession resulting from the pandemic.
Our sources of revenue are limited and we expect to incur losses for the foreseeable future; while we increased our
cash reserve by completing the Rights Offering, unanticipated liabilities and expenses could adversely affect our
ability to engage in a public company acquisition or investment, as currently intended, or to continue operations.
We have incurred losses in the current period and have limited sources of revenues. Although we received
approximately $43.1 million of net proceeds in the fourth quarter of 2020 from the Rights Offering, which we intend to use
to position us as a public company acquisition vehicle, unless and until we can consummate an acquisition or investment
that generates income, we do not anticipate generating any additional cash or revenues. We have been informed by Merck
that there will likely be no or minimal additional sales of PegIntron and we would likely receive no further significant
royalties, although we may remain potentially liable to Merck for product returns and rebates. Based on current estimates,
we do not expect any liability for those returns and rebates to be material. Moreover, our right to receive royalty revenues
from other products is limited and we currently do not intend to acquire new sources of royalty revenues. For those
remaining existing or potential sources of royalty revenue, our licensees may be unable to maintain regulatory approvals
for currently licensed products or obtain regulatory approvals for new products. Safety issues could also result in the failure
to maintain regulatory approvals or decrease revenues.
While we have substantially reduced our operating expenses in anticipation of the decline in revenues, including
ceasing our research and development activities, eliminating our workforce in favor of independent contractors, and
discontinuing our significant lease commitments, we may incur unanticipated liabilities or expenses, including expenses to
defend unasserted product liability claims or greater than expected liabilities for PegIntron and expenses incurred in our
search for a target business to acquire or in which to invest. Any such expenses or liabilities could impact the availability of
assets that we expect to use to fund future operations or adversely affect our ability to pay dividends or make distributions
to shareholders upon a liquidation of the Company.
We have outsourced all corporate functions, which makes us more dependent on third parties to perform these
corporate functions.
We have outsourced all corporate functions, which makes us more dependent on third parties for the performance
of these functions. To the extent that we are unable to effectively reallocate employee responsibilities, retain key officers as
consultants, maintain effective internal control over financial reporting and effective disclosure controls and procedures,
establish and maintain agreements with competent third-party contractors on terms that are acceptable to us, or effectively
manage the work performed by any retained third-party contractors, our ability to manage the operations effectively could
be compromised.
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While we intend to acquire profitable businesses, entities or revenue streams that will generate sufficient income so
that we can utilize our NOLs, we may be unable to do so and, accordingly, we may be unable to realize our deferred
income tax assets.
The ultimate realization of our deferred income tax assets is dependent upon generating future taxable income,
executing tax planning strategies, and reversals of existing taxable temporary differences. We have recorded a full
valuation allowance against our deferred income tax assets, which may fluctuate as conditions change. While we are
positioned as a public company acquisition vehicle and intend to acquire profitable businesses, entities or revenue streams
that will generate sufficient income so that we can utilize our NOLs, we cannot provide any assurance that we will be able
to do so.
In addition, our ability to utilize our NOLs to offset our future taxable income and/or to recover previously paid
taxes would be limited if we were to undergo an “ownership change” within the meaning of Section 382 of the Internal
Revenue Code. In general, an “ownership change” occurs whenever the percentage of the stock of a corporation owned by
“5-percent shareholders” (within the meaning of Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code) increases by more than 50
percentage points over the lowest percentage of the stock of such corporation owned by such “5-percent shareholders” at
any time over the testing period.
An ownership change under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code would establish an annual limitation to the
amount of NOLs we could utilize to offset our taxable income in any single year. The application of these limitations might
prevent full utilization of the deferred tax assets attributable to our NOLs. Although we have adopted a Section 382 rights
plan in an effort to protect stockholder value by attempting to protect against a possible limitation on our ability to use our
NOLs, we cannot assure you that we will not undergo an ownership change within the meaning of Section 382. (See Notes
9 and 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.)
Risks Relating to Our Common Stock
Our common stock ranks junior to our Series C Preferred Stock.
With respect to the payment of cash dividends and amount payable in the event our liquidation, dissolution or
winding up, our common stock will rank junior to our Series C Non-Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock (“Series C
Preferred Stock”). This means that, unless full dividends have been (i) paid, (ii) redeemed in an amount in excess of the
initial liquidation value of $1,000 per share of Series C Preferred Stock or (iii) set aside for payment on all outstanding
Series C Preferred Stock for all dividends or increases in the liquidation value in excess of the initial liquidation amount of
$1,000 of such Series C Preferred Stock, no cash dividends may be declared or paid on our common stock. Likewise, in the
event of our voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up, no distribution of our assets may be made to
holders of our common stock until we have paid to the holders of our Series C Preferred Stock the liquidation preference
related to such Series C Preferred Stock, plus in each case any accrued and unpaid dividends.
The interests of our significant stockholders may conflict with the interests of other stockholders.
Mr. Carl C. Icahn, directly and indirectly, beneficially owns approximately 49% of the outstanding shares of our
common stock, as well as approximately 98% of the outstanding Series C Preferred Stock. Mr. Icahn may have interests
that are different from, in addition to or not always consistent with our interests or with the interests of our other common
or preferred stockholders. To the extent that conflicts of interest may arise between us and Mr. Icahn and his affiliates,
those conflicts may be resolved in a manner adverse to us or our other stockholders. In addition, the existence of significant
stockholders may have the effect of making it difficult for, or may discourage or delay, a third party from seeking to
acquire a majority of our outstanding common stock, which may adversely affect the market price of our common stock. In
addition, such stockholders may exert significant influence over our operations.
The price of our common stock has historically been volatile and may decline significantly if we are unable to
consummate a business acquisition or investment.
Historically, the market price of our common stock has fluctuated over a wide range for a variety of reasons,
including Company-specific factors and global and industry-wide conditions and events such as the COVID-19 pandemic
and resulting recession, as well as the fact that only a few stockholders, in the aggregate, hold more than a majority of our
7

common stock, and, therefore, there is a small public float with limited trading activity in our common stock. In the future,
the value of our common stock may be impacted by our declining royalty revenues, our ability to monetize our remaining
assets, including our NOLs, and any unexpected liabilities or expenses that impact our continued operations, our ability to
pay dividends or make distributions to our stockholders and the success of any future activities which we undertake,
including our ability to consummate a business acquisition or investment.
In addition, financings that may be available to us under current market conditions frequently involve sales at
prices below the prices at which our common stock currently trades on the OTCQX, as well as the issuance of warrants or
convertible equity that require exercise or conversion prices that are calculated in the future at a discount to the then market
price of our common stock.
Our common stock is quoted on the OTCQX market of the OTC Markets Group, Inc., which has a very limited
trading market and, therefore, market liquidity for our common stock is low and our stockholders’ ability to sell
their shares of our common stock may be limited.
Our common stock is quoted on the OTCQX market of the OTC Markets Group, Inc. and the quotation of our
common stock on the OTCQX market does not assure that a liquid trading market exists or will develop. Stocks traded on
the OTCQX market generally have very limited trading volume and exhibit a wider spread between the bid/ask quotations
than stocks traded on national exchanges. Moreover, a significant number of institutional investors have investment
policies that prohibit them from trading in stocks on the OTCQX marketplace. As a result, investors may find it difficult to
dispose of, or to obtain accurate quotations of the price of, our common stock. This significantly limits the liquidity of our
common stock and may adversely affect the market price of our common stock.
We do not currently, and are not expected in the future to, meet the listing standards of any national exchange. We
presently anticipate that our common stock will continue to be quoted on the OTCQX market. As a result, investors must
bear the economic risk of holding their shares of our common stock for an indefinite period of time. In the future, our
common stock could become subject to “penny stock” rules which impose additional disclosure requirements on brokerdealers and could further negatively impact market liquidity for our common stock and our stockholders’ ability to sell
their shares of our common stock.
The declaration of common stock dividends is within the discretion of our Board, subject to any applicable
limitations under Delaware corporate law, as well as the requirements of the Series C Preferred Stock. Our ability
to pay dividends in the future depends on, among other things, our fulfillment of the conditions of the Series C
Preferred Stock, declining royalty revenues, our ability to acquire other revenue sources and our ability to manage
expenses, including costs relating to our ongoing operations.
The declaration of dividends is within the discretion of our Board, subject to any applicable limitations under
Delaware corporate law, and, therefore, our Board could decide in the future not to declare dividends. In addition, as
described elsewhere, our common stock ranks junior to the Series C Preferred Stock, and we cannot declare or pay cash
dividends on our common stock unless we satisfy the dividend requirements of such Series C Preferred Stock. Also, our
ability to pay dividends in the future depends on, among other things, our future revenues, including any revenues from
existing and any future royalties and/or milestone payments, our ability to acquire other revenue sources and our ability to
manage expenses, including costs relating to our ongoing operations. We expect little or no future royalties from existing
products for which we have the right to receive royalties. In addition, while we intend to acquire or invest in profitable
businesses, entities or revenue streams and we may be entitled to a share of milestone and royalty payments from the
approval and sale of Vicineum, we cannot assure you that we will be able to do so or that we will have sufficient royalty or
milestone revenues to be able to pay dividends in the future.
We have adopted a Section 382 rights plan, which may discourage a corporate takeover.
On August 14, 2020, our Board of Directors adopted the Section 382 rights plan and declared a dividend
distribution of one right for each outstanding share of our common stock to stockholders of record at the close of business
on August 24, 2020. Each share of our common stock issued thereafter will also include one right. Each right entitles its
holder, under certain circumstances, to purchase from us one one-thousandth of a share of our Series A-1 Junior
Participating Preferred Stock at an exercise price of $1.20 per right, subject to adjustment.
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The Board adopted the Section 382 rights plan in an effort to protect stockholder value by attempting to protect
against a possible limitation on our ability to use our NOLs. We may utilize these NOLs in certain circumstances to offset
future United States taxable income and reduce our United States federal income tax liability. Because the Section 382
rights plan could make it more expensive for a person to acquire a controlling interest in us, it could have the effect of
delaying or preventing a change in control even if a change in control was in our stockholders’ interest.
Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware corporate law may make it more difficult to
acquire us, even though such acquisitions may be beneficial to our stockholders.
In addition to our Section 382 rights plan, provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, as well as
provisions of Delaware corporate law, could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us, even though such
acquisitions may be beneficial to our stockholders. These anti-takeover provisions include:
●

lack of a provision for cumulative voting in the election of directors;

●

the ability of our Board to authorize the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock to increase the number of
outstanding shares and thwart a takeover attempt;

●

advance notice requirements for nominations for election to the Board of Directors or for proposing matters
that can be acted upon by stockholders at stockholder meetings; and

●

limitations on who may call a special meeting of stockholders.

The provisions described above, our Section 382 rights plan and provisions of Delaware corporate law relating to
business combinations with interested stockholders, along with the significant amount of common stock beneficially
owned by Mr. Icahn, may discourage, delay or prevent a third party from acquiring us. These provisions may also
discourage, delay or prevent a third party from acquiring a large portion of our securities, or initiating a tender offer, even if
our stockholders might receive a premium for their shares in the acquisition over the then current market price.
Risks Related to the Series C Preferred Stock
In the event of any dissolution, liquidation, or winding up of our Company, we may not be able to make
distributions or payments in full to all the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock or, if required, we may not be able
to redeem such shares.
The Series C Preferred Stock ranks senior to our common stock, but we may in the future issue one or more series
of preferred stock that ranks senior to, junior to or pari passu with our Series C Preferred Stock. In the event of any
dissolution, liquidation, winding up or change of control of our Company, we may not be able to make distributions or
payments in full to all the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock or, if required, to redeem the Series C Preferred Stock, in
which case holders of the Series C Preferred Stock could lose the entire value of their investment.
The dividends on our Series C Preferred Stock can be paid in kind by increasing the liquidation value of the shares
of Series C Preferred Stock.
The terms of the Series C Preferred Stock allow dividends on the shares of Series C Preferred Stock to be paid in
kind by increasing the liquidation value of the shares of Series C Preferred Stock and, therefore, allow the repayment of the
principal and accrued dividends on the Series C Preferred Stock to be deferred until the earliest of the redemption of the
Series C Preferred Stock or upon our dissolution, liquidation or winding up. We may not have enough capital to repay the
full amount of the principal and accrued dividends when the payment of principal and accrued dividends on the Series C
Preferred Stock becomes due.
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The Series C Preferred Stock is equity and is subordinate to our existing and future indebtedness and other
liabilities, and your interests may be diluted in the event we issue additional shares of preferred stock.
Shares of the Series C Preferred Stock represent equity interests and do not constitute indebtedness. As such, the
Series C Preferred Stock will rank junior to all of our indebtedness and other non-equity claims of our creditors with
respect to assets available to satisfy our claims, including in our liquidation, dissolution or winding up. Our future debt may
include restrictions on our ability to pay distributions to preferred stockholders. Unlike indebtedness, where principal and
interest would customarily be payable on specified due dates, in the case of preferred stock such as the Series C Preferred
Stock, dividends are payable only if declared by our Board of Directors (or a duly authorized committee thereof). Our
ability to pay dividends on the Series C Preferred Stock may be limited by the terms of our agreements governing future
indebtedness and by the provisions of other future agreements.
Subject to limitations prescribed by Delaware law and our charter, our Board of Directors is authorized to issue,
from our authorized but unissued shares of capital stock, preferred stock in such classes or series as our Board of Directors
may determine and to establish from time to time the number of shares of preferred stock to be included in any such class
or series. The issuance of additional shares of Series C Preferred Stock or additional shares of preferred stock designated as
ranking on parity with the Series C Preferred Stock would dilute the interests of the holders of shares of the Series C
Preferred Stock, and the issuance of shares of any class or series of our capital stock expressly designated as ranking senior
to the Series C Preferred Stock or the incurrence of additional indebtedness could affect our ability to pay distributions on,
redeem or pay the liquidation preference on the Series C Preferred Stock.
The Series C Preferred Stock is not convertible into common stock.
The Series C Preferred Stock is not convertible into shares of common stock and, therefore, holders of Series C
Preferred Stock have no rights with respect to shares of our common stock. In addition, the Series C Preferred Stock
accrues dividends at a fixed rate. Accordingly, an increase in market price of our common stock will not necessarily result
in an increase in the value of the Series C Preferred Stock. The value of the Series C Preferred Stock may depend more on
dividend and interest rates for other preferred stock, commercial paper and other investment alternatives and our actual and
perceived ability to pay dividends on, and in the event of dissolution satisfy the liquidation preference with respect to, the
Series C Preferred Stock.
Holders of shares of Series C Preferred Stock have no voting rights.
Except as otherwise provided by law, the holders of Series C Preferred Stock have no special voting rights and
their consent will not be required for taking any corporate action. As a result, all matters submitted to stockholders will be
decided by the vote of holders of our common stock. Holders of Series C Preferred Stock have no ability to influence
corporate matters and, as a result, we may take actions that holders of our Series C Preferred Stock do not view as
preferable.
There is no public market for the Series C Preferred Stock.
There is no established public trading market for the Series C Preferred Stock, and we do not expect a market to
develop. We do not currently intend to apply for listing of the Series C Preferred Stock on any securities exchange or
recognized trading system. Purchasers of the Series C Preferred Stock may be unable to resell their shares of Series C
Preferred Stock or sell them only at an unfavorable price for an extended period of time, if at all.
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
Not applicable.
Item 2. Properties
We maintain our principal executive offices at 20 Commerce Drive, Suite 135, Cranford, New Jersey, 07016
through a services agreement with Regus Management Group, LLC (“Regus”).

10

Item 3. Legal Proceedings
From time to time, we are engaged in litigation arising in the ordinary course of our business. There is currently
no pending material litigation to which we are a party or to which any of our property is subject.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
PART II.
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters, and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities
Market Information
Since August 9, 2016, our common stock has been quoted for trading on the OTCQX market of the OTC Markets
Group, Inc. under the trading symbol “ENZN.”
Over-the-counter market quotations reflect inter-dealer prices, without retail mark-up, markdown or commission
and may not represent actual transactions.
Holders
As of February 11, 2022, there were 758 holders of record of our common stock, which does not reflect persons or
entities that hold the common stock in nominee or “street” name through various brokerage firms and financial institutions.
Dividends
The declaration of dividends is within the discretion of our Board, subject to any applicable limitations under
Delaware corporate law, and therefore our Board could decide in the future not to declare dividends. We did not pay any
cash dividends to our common stockholders in 2021 and can provide no assurance that our Board will declare any cash
dividends payable to our common stockholders in the future. In addition, as our common stock ranks junior to the Series C
Preferred Stock, unless full dividends have been (i) paid, (ii) redeemed in an amount in excess of the initial liquidation
value of $1,000 per share of Series C Preferred Stock or (iii) set aside for payment on all such outstanding Series C
Preferred Stock for all dividends or increases in the liquidation value in excess of the initial liquidation amount of $1,000
of such Series C Preferred Stock, no cash dividends may be declared or paid on our common stock. On an annual basis, our
Board may, at its sole discretion, cause a dividend with respect to the Series C Preferred Stock to be paid in cash to the
holders in an amount equal to 3% of the liquidation preference as in effect at such time. If the dividend is not so paid in
cash, the liquidation preference will be adjusted and increased annually by an amount equal to 5% of the liquidation
preference per share as in effect at such time, that is not paid in cash to the holders on such date. Also, our ability to pay
dividends in the future depends on, among other things, our future revenues from existing royalties and/or milestone
payments, our ability to acquire other revenue sources and our ability to manage expenses, including costs relating to our
ongoing operations.
Repurchase of Equity Securities
Not applicable.
Item 6. Selected Financial Data
As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide the information required by this item.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read together with our
consolidated financial statements and notes to those statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Forward-Looking Information and Factors That May Affect Future Results
The following discussion contains forward-looking statements within the “safe harbor” provisions of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. All statements contained in the following discussion, other than statements that
are purely historical, are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of forwardlooking terminology such as “believes,” “expects,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “potential,” “anticipates,”
“estimates,” “plans,” “would,” or “intends” or the negative thereof, or other variations thereof, or comparable terminology,
or by discussions of strategy. Forward-looking statements are based upon management’s present expectations, objectives,
anticipations, plans, hopes, beliefs, intentions or strategies regarding the future and are subject to risks and uncertainties
that could cause actual results, events or developments to be materially different from those indicated in such forwardlooking statements, including the risks and uncertainties set forth in Item 1A. Risk Factors. These risks and uncertainties
should be considered carefully and readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements.
As such, we cannot assure you that the future results covered by the forward-looking statements will be achieved.
The percentage changes throughout the following discussion are based on amounts stated in thousands of dollars.
Overview
During 2020, the Company adopted a Section 382 rights plan and completed a Rights Offering, each as further
described below. As a result of the successful completion of the Rights Offering, we are positioned as a public company
acquisition vehicle, where we can become an acquisition platform and more fully utilize our NOLs and enhance
stockholder value. We intend to acquire profitable businesses, entities or revenue streams that will generate sufficient
income so that we can utilize our approximately $103.4 million NOLs. To date, we have not identified any actionable
acquisition candidates and, while we expect that, ultimately, we will be successful in realizing the value of our NOLs, we
cannot assure you that we will be able to do so.
In December 2019, an outbreak of a novel strain of coronavirus (COVID-19) was reported in Wuhan, China.
Despite recent progress in the administration of vaccines, both the outbreak of recent variants, including Delta and
Omicron, and the related containment measures that have been put in place across the globe, have had and are likely to
continue to have a serious adverse impact on the global economy and may adversely affect our business operations. The
ongoing global health crisis (including resurgences) resulting from the pandemic have disrupted, and continue to disrupt,
the normal operations of many businesses, including restrictions such as the temporary closure or scale-back of business
operations and/or the imposition of either quarantine or remote work requirements for employees, either by government
order or on a voluntary basis. It is impossible to predict the effect and ultimate impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, as the
situation is continually evolving. The COVID-19 pandemic may continue to disrupt the global supply chain and may cause
disruptions to our operations, financial condition and prospects. At the present time, the Company’s business activities
have been largely unaffected by COVID-19 restrictions as the Company’s workforce is comprised solely of independent
contractors who are able to perform their duties remotely. However, these restrictions may impact the third parties who are
responsible for obtaining final approval of and manufacturing product candidates for which the Company shares the right
to receive licensing fees, milestone payments and royalty revenues. If those third parties are required to curtail their
business activities for a significant time, or if global supply chain disruptions impact their ability to procure needed
resources, raw materials or components, the Company’s right to receive licensing fees, milestone payments or royalties
could be materially and adversely affected. Additionally, the development timeline for product candidates being developed
by third parties that are pending FDA or other regulatory approval could be delayed if the agency is required to shift
resources to the review and approval of candidates for treatment of COVID-19. In addition, the effects of the COVID-19
pandemic may negatively impact our search for a target company, as well as the business and/or results of operations of
any target business that we acquire or in which we invest.
Prior to 2017, the primary source of our royalty revenues was derived from sales of PegIntron, which is marketed
by Merck. We currently have no clinical operations and limited corporate operations. We have no intention of resuming
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any clinical development activities. Royalty revenues from sales of PegIntron accounted for (4)% and 42% of our total
revenues for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, net of the effects of Merck’s adjustments for
recoupment of previously overpaid royalties.
We have a marketing agreement with Micromet AG, now part of Amgen, Inc. (the “Micromet Agreement”),
pursuant to which we may be entitled to certain milestone and royalty payments if Vicineum, a drug being developed by
Sesen, Inc., is approved for the treatment of non-muscle invasive bladder cancer. In a press release dated February 16,
2021, Sesen announced that the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (the “FDA”) had accepted for filing Sesen’s Biologic
License Application (“BLA”) for Vicineum. The FDA further granted Priority Review, with a target Prescription Drug
User Fee Act (“PDUFA”) date for a decision on the BLA of August 18, 2021 Accordingly, we earned a milestone of
$409,430 in the first quarter of 2021, all of which was received by June 30, 2021. However, on August 13, 2021, Sesen
announced that it had received a Complete Response Letter (“CRL”) from the FDA and that the FDA had determined that
it cannot approve the BLA for Vicineum in its present form and had provided recommendations specific to additional
clinical/statistical data and analyses in addition to Chemistry, Manufacturing and Controls (“CMA”) issues pertaining to a
recent preapproval inspection and product quality. In a press release that Sesen issued on December 9, 2021, it noted that
on December 8, 2021 it had a Clinical Type A meeting with the FDA and received greater clarity regarding the
requirements for resubmission of the BLA and trial design, which may include a randomized clinical trial assessing the
safety and efficacy of Vicineum compared to investigators’ choice of intravesical chemotherapy. In a filing with the U. S.
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) in March 2021, Sesen noted that it had received notice from the European
Medicines Agency (“EMA”) that its Marketing Authorization Application (“MMA”) for Vicineum was found to be valid
and the review procedure had officially started. Accordingly, we earned and received an additional milestone of $292,284
in the second quarter of 2021. Subsequently, on August 25, 2021, Sesen announced that it had withdrawn its application to
market Vicineum in Europe.
Due to the challenges associated with developing and obtaining approval for drug products, and the lack of our
involvement in the development and approval process, there is substantial uncertainty as to whether we will receive any
milestone or royalty payments under the Micromet Agreement. We will not recognize revenue until all revenue recognition
requirements are met.
We may be entitled to certain potential future milestone payments contingent upon the achievement of certain
regulatory approval-related milestones by third-party licensees. We cannot assure you that we will receive any milestone
payments resulting from our agreements with any of our third-party licensees or that any sales of related products will be
made. We will not recognize revenue from any of our third-party licensees until all revenue recognition requirements are
met.
Results of Operations (in thousands of dollars):
For the
Year Ended December 31,
2021
2020

Revenues:
Royalties and milestones, net
Total revenues
Operating expenses:
General and administrative
Operating loss
Other income
Income tax expense
Net loss

$

$

Overview
The following table summarizes our royalties earned in 2021 and 2020:
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701
701
1,170
(469)
7
(7)
(469)

$

$

52
52
1,357
(1,305)
1
(7)
(1,311)

Royalties and Milestones Revenues (in thousands of dollars):
For the Year Ended December 31,
%
2021
Change
2020

Royalties and milestones revenues

701

1,248

52

In 2021 and 2020, we earned total net royalties and milestones revenues of approximately $729,000 and $0,
respectively, in milestone revenue from Sesen. Separately, in 2021, we were notified by Merck of an approximate $28,000
repayment they believe they are owed of previously-paid royalties on PegIntron. The revenues in 2021 and 2020 were
$28,000 and $30,000, respectively, from license fees from Amgen, Inc. in payment of a worldwide, royalty-free nonexclusive right to license Vicineum. In 2020, we also earned $22,000 from royalty revenues from Merck related to sales of
PegIntron. Our right to receive royalties on U.S. and European sales of PegIntron expired in 2016 and 2018, respectively,
expired in Malaysia in 2020, expired in Japan in 2021 and will expire in Chile in 2024.
At December 31, 2020, we recorded a liability to Merck of approximately $302,000 based primarily on Merck’s
assertions regarding recoupments related to prior returns and rebates. During the year ended December 31, 2021, additional
recoupments claimed by Merck related to PegIntron were approximately $29,000. As such, as asserted by Merck, the
Company’s liability to Merck was $331,000 at December 31, 2021, as discussed in Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. During the year ended December 31, 2020, net royalties from PegIntron were approximately $22,000.
We believe that we will receive little or no additional royalties from Merck and may incur additional chargebacks
from returns and rebates in amounts that, based on current estimates, are not believed to be material. As reported by Merck,
in recent years, sales declines were driven by lower volumes in nearly all regions, as the availability of new therapeutic
options resulted in continued loss of market share.
General and Administrative Expenses (in thousands of dollars):
For the Year Ended December 31,
%
2021
Change
2020

$

General and administrative expenses

1,170

(14) $

1,357

For the year ended December 31, 2021, general and administrative expenses were approximately $1,170,000, a
decrease of approximately $187,000 (14%) from $1,357,000 in the prior year. The change in 2021 from 2020 was primarily
from a decrease in legal, consulting, and contracted services fees, as partially offset by an increase in insurance expenses.
In particular, legal and other fees associated with the Section 382 rights plan and issues surrounding proxy filings and the
annual meeting contributed significantly to the 2020 general and administrative expenses.
In 2021 and 2020, general and administrative expenses consisted primarily of insurance expenses, consulting fees
for executive services, outside professional services for accounting, audit, tax and legal services.
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Income Taxes
As a result of our expenses exceeding our royalty and milestone income for the year ended December 31, 2021,
we incurred approximately $468,000 in taxable loss before utilization of NOLs. We utilized none of our NOLs due to the
taxable loss position. Due to the valuation allowance placed on our deferred tax assets, the deferred tax expense resulting
from the usage and/or expiration of deferred tax assets was offset by a corresponding deferred tax benefit from a reduction
in valuation allowance, and we recorded no deferred tax expense during the year ended December 31, 2021. We are
projecting future tax losses and have recorded a full valuation allowance against our remaining deferred tax assets as of
December 31, 2021, as we currently believe it is more likely than not that these assets will not be realized. However, we
intend to acquire profitable businesses, entities or revenue streams that will generate sufficient income so that we can
utilize our approximately $103.4 million NOLs. While we anticipate that, ultimately, we will be successful in realizing the
value of our NOLs, we cannot assure you that we will be able to do so.
Our management will continue to assess the need for this valuation allowance and will make adjustments when
appropriate. Additionally, our management believes that our NOLs will not be limited by any changes in the Company’s
ownership as a result of the successful completion of the Rights Offering. (See Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.)
These projections and beliefs are based upon a variety of estimates and numerous assumptions made by our
management with respect to, among other things, forecasted sales of the drug products for which we have the right to
receive royalties, our ability to acquire profitable businesses, entities or revenue streams that will generate sufficient
income so that we can utilize our NOLs and other matters, many of which are difficult to predict, are subject to significant
uncertainties and are beyond our control. As a result, we cannot assure you that the estimates and assumptions upon which
these projections and beliefs are based will prove accurate, that the projected results will be realized or that the actual
results will not be substantially higher or lower than projected.
Section 382 Rights Plan
On August 14, 2020, in an effort to protect stockholder value by attempting to protect against a possible limitation
on our ability to use our NOLs, our Board of Directors adopted a Section 382 rights plan and declared a dividend
distribution of one right for each outstanding share of the Company’s common stock to stockholders of record at the close
of business on August 24, 2020. Accordingly, holders of the Company’s common stock own one preferred stock purchase
right for each share of common stock owned by such holder. The rights are not immediately exercisable and will become
exercisable only upon the occurrence of certain events as set forth in the Section 382 rights plan. If the rights become
exercisable, each right would initially represent the right to purchase from us one one-thousandth of a share of our
Series A-1 Junior Participating Preferred Stock, par value $0.01 per share, for a purchase price of $1.20 per right. If issued,
each fractional share of Series A-1 Junior Participating Preferred Stock would give the stockholder approximately the same
dividend, voting and liquidation rights as does one share of the Company’s common stock. However, prior to exercise, a
right does not give its holder any rights as a stockholder of the Company, including any dividend, voting or liquidation
rights. The rights will expire on the earliest of (i) the close of business on June 2. 2024 (unless that date is advanced or
extended by the Board of Directors), (ii) the time at which the rights are redeemed or exchanged under the Section 382
rights plan, (iii) the close of business on the day of repeal of Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code or any successor
statute and (iv) the close of business on the first day of a taxable year of the Company to which our Board of Directors
determines that no NOLs may be carried forward.
Rights Offering
On September 1, 2020, our Board of Directors approved the Rights Offering consisting of shares of Series C
Preferred Stock and shares of the Company’s common stock. On October 9, 2020, the Rights Offering was completed and,
as a result, we realized gross proceeds of approximately $43.6 million, issued 40,000 shares of Series C Preferred Stock
and 30,000,000 shares of common stock such that there is currently an aggregate of 40,000 shares of Series C Preferred
Stock and 74,214,603 shares of common stock outstanding. (See Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.)
With regard to the Series C Preferred Stock, on an annual basis, the Company’s Board of Directors may, at its sole
discretion, cause a dividend with respect to the Series C Preferred Stock to be paid in cash to the holders in an amount
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equal to 3% of the liquidation preference as in effect at such time (initially $1,000 per share). If the dividend is not so paid
in cash, the liquidation preference is adjusted and increased annually by an amount equal to 5% of the liquidation
preference per share as in effect at such time, that is not paid in cash to the holders on such date. Holders of Series C
Preferred Stock do not have any voting rights and the Series C Preferred Stock is not convertible into shares of our
common stock. The initial liquidation value of the Series C Preferred Stock was $1,000 per share. No dividends have been
declared or paid on the Series C Preferred Stock. On or after November 1, 2022, we may redeem the Series C Preferred
Stock at any time, in whole or in part, for an amount based on the liquidation preference per share as in effect at such time.
Holders of Series C Preferred Stock have the right to demand that we redeem their shares in the event that we undergo a
change of control.
We believe that the completion of the Rights Offering will not limit the use of our NOLs due to any Section 382
limitations.
The Company’s Board of Directors did not declare a dividend on the Series C Preferred Stock as of December 31,
2021 or 2020. Accordingly, the liquidation value at December 31, 2021 and 2020 was $1,062 and $1,012 per share,
respectively. (See Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.)
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our current source of liquidity is our existing cash on hand, which includes the approximately $43.6 million of
gross proceeds from our Rights Offering. (See Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.) While we no longer have
any research and development activities, we continue to retain rights to receive royalties and milestone payments from
existing licensing arrangements with other companies and, accordingly, we may be entitled to a share of milestone and
royalty payments from the approval and sale of Vicineum, We believe that our existing cash on hand will be sufficient to
fund our operations, at least, through February 2023. Our future royalty revenues are expected to be de minimis over the
next several years and we cannot assure you that we will receive any royalty, milestone or other revenues.
While we are positioned as a public company acquisition vehicle, where we can become an acquisition platform
and more fully utilize our NOLs and enhance stockholder value, we cannot assure you that we will succeed in making
acquisitions that are profitable and that will enable us to utilize our NOLs.
Cash provided by operating activities represents net loss, as adjusted for certain non-cash items including the
effect of changes in operating assets and liabilities. Cash used in operating activities during 2021 was $501,000, as
compared to cash used in operating activities of $380,000 in 2020. The decrease of approximately $121,000 was primarily
attributable to our collection of a $970,000 tax refund receivable during 2020, offset by an approximately $843,000
decrease in our net loss.
No cash was provided by financing activities in 2021, as compared to approximately $43.1 million provided by
financing activities in 2020, attributable entirely to the net proceeds from the Rights Offering in October 2020, offset by the
payment of $0.5 million of offering-related costs.
The net effect of the foregoing was a decrease of cash of approximately $0.5 million, from $48.1 million at
December 31, 2020 to $47.6 million at December 31, 2021.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not participate in transactions that generate relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial
partnerships, such as entities often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities, which would have been
established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow limited purposes.
As of December 31, 2021, we were not involved in any off-balance sheet special purpose entity transactions.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
A critical accounting policy is one that is both important to the portrayal of a company’s financial condition and
results of operations and requires management’s most difficult, subjective or complex judgments, often as a result of the
need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain.
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Our consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with accounting principles that are generally
accepted in the U.S. (“U.S. GAAP”). All applicable U.S. GAAP accounting standards effective as of December 31, 2021
have been taken into consideration in preparing the consolidated financial statements. The preparation of the consolidated
financial statements requires estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues,
expenses and related disclosures. Some of those estimates are subjective and complex, and, consequently, actual results
could differ from those estimates. The following accounting policies and estimates have been highlighted as significant
because changes to certain judgments and assumptions inherent in these policies could affect our consolidated financial
statements.
We base our estimates, to the extent possible, on historical experience. Historical information is modified as
appropriate based on current business factors and various assumptions that we believe are necessary to form a basis for
making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities. We evaluate our estimates on an ongoing basis and
make changes when necessary. Actual results could differ from our estimates.
Revenues
Royalties under our agreements with third parties and pursuant to the sale of our former specialty pharmaceutical
business are recognized when reasonably determinable and earned through the sale of the product by the third party and
collection is reasonably assured. Notification from the third-party licensee of the royalties earned under the license
agreement is the basis for royalty revenue recognition. This information generally is received from the licensees in the
quarter subsequent to the period in which the sales occur.
Contingent payments due under the Asset Purchase Agreement for the sale of our former specialty pharmaceutical
business are recognized as income when the milestone has been achieved and collection is assured, such payments are nonrefundable and no further effort is required on our part or the other party to complete the earning process.
Income Taxes
Under the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes, deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognized for the estimated future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying
amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in
which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. A valuation allowance on net deferred tax assets
is provided for when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. As of
December 31, 2021, we believe, based on our projections, that at this time it is more likely than not that our net deferred
tax assets, including our net operating losses from operating activities, will not be realized. We are positioned as a public
company acquisition vehicle, where we can become an acquisition platform and more fully utilize our NOLs. We intend to
acquire profitable businesses, entities or revenue streams that will generate sufficient income so that we can utilize our
approximately $103.4 million NOLs. At this time, however, we cannot assure you that we will be successful in doing so.
Accordingly, our management will continue to assess the need for this valuation allowance and will make adjustments
when appropriate. Additionally, our management believes that our NOLs will not be limited by any changes in our
ownership as a result of the successful completion of the Rights Offering (See Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements).
We recognize the benefit of an uncertain tax position that we have taken or expect to take on the income tax
returns we file if it is more likely than not that we will be able to sustain our position.
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide the information required by this item.
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
Financial statements and notes thereto appear on pages F-1 to F-17 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
(a)

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, under the direction of our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, who is
the same individual, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a15(e) or 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), as of December 31, 2021.
Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in reports filed or
submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in
SEC rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to management, including the Principal
Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures. Based on that
evaluation, our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective as of December 31, 2021.
(b)

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rules 13a15(f) or 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act, during the quarter ended December 31, 2021 that have materially affected, or
are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
(c)

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

It is the responsibility of the management of Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiaries to establish and
maintain adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act). Internal
control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, our Principal Executive Officer and
Principal Financial Officer to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and
includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately
and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of Enzon; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions
are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of Enzon are being made only in accordance with authorizations
of management and directors of Enzon; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding the prevention or timely detection
of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of Enzon’s assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated
financial statements of Enzon.
Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, we conducted an evaluation of the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on criteria established in “Internal Control—Integrated
Framework - 2013” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Our
management concluded that as of December 31, 2021 our internal control over financial reporting was effective based on
those criteria.
(d)

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with
respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.
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Item 9B. Other Information
On February 24, 2022, the Company entered into a revised consulting agreement with Richard L. Feinstein, the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary. The agreement provides for Mr. Feinstein’s
consulting fee to be set at $200,000 per year and an incentive of up to 25% of the fee at the discretion of our Board based
on the Company’s and Mr. Feinstein’s performance. A copy of the revised consulting agreement is attached hereto as
Exhibit 3.5 and incorporated herein by reference.
In addition, on February 24, 2022, our Board approved an amendment to the Company’s Second Amended and
Restated By-Laws to provide that our Board shall no longer require at least three directors but can consist of at least one
director. The amendment to the Second Amended and Restated By-Laws is attached hereto as Exhibit 10.7 and
incorporated herein by reference.
Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections
Not applicable.
PART III.
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
If we file a definitive proxy statement relating to our 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders with the SEC not later
than 120 days after December 31, 2021, the information required by this Item 10 is incorporated herein by reference to
such definitive proxy statement. However, if such definitive proxy statement is not filed with the SEC in such 120-day
period, we will file an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K with the SEC not later than 120 days after
December 31, 2021 to include the information required by this Item 10.
Item 11. Executive Compensation
If we file a definitive proxy statement relating to our 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders with the SEC not later
than 120 days after December 31, 2021, the information required by this Item 11 is incorporated herein by reference to
such definitive proxy statement. However, if such definitive proxy statement is not filed with the SEC in such 120-day
period, we will file an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K with the SEC not later than 120 days after
December 31, 2021 to include the information required by this Item 11.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
If we file a definitive proxy statement relating to our 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders with the SEC not later
than 120 days after December 31, 2021, the information required by this Item 12 is incorporated herein by reference to
such definitive proxy statement. However, if such definitive proxy statement is not filed with the SEC in such 120-day
period, we will file an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K with the SEC not later than 120 days after
December 31, 2021 to include the information required by this Item 12.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
If we file a definitive proxy statement relating to our 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders with the SEC not later
than 120 days after December 31, 2021, the information required by this Item 13 is incorporated herein by reference to
such definitive proxy statement. However, if such definitive proxy statement is not filed with the SEC in such 120-day
period, we will file an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K with the SEC not later than 120 days after
December 31, 2021 to include the information required by this Item 13.
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Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services
If we file a definitive proxy statement relating to our 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders with the SEC not later
than 120 days after December 31, 2021, the information required by this Item 14 is incorporated herein by reference to
such definitive proxy statement. However, if such definitive proxy statement is not filed with the SEC in such 120-day
period, we will file an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K with the SEC not later than 120 days after
December 31, 2021 to include the information required by this Item 14.
PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
(a)(1), (a)(2) and (c). The response to this portion of Item 15 is submitted as a separate section of this report
commencing on page F-1.
(a)(3) and (b). Exhibits (numbered in accordance with Item 601 of Regulation S-K).
Exhibit
Number
3.1
3.2
3.3
3.4
3.5
4.1
4.2

4.3
10.2
10.3
10.4
10.5
10.6
10.7
21.1
23.1

Description
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation dated May 18, 2006, together with that
Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation dated
July 13, 2010
Second Amended and Restated By-Laws effective March 11, 2011, as amended by
Amendment No. 1 to the Second Amended and Restated By-Laws effective February 15,
2013
Certificate of Designation of Series A-1 Junior Participating Preferred Stock of Enzon
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on August
14, 2020
Certificate of Designation of Series C Non-Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock of
Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc., filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on
September 21, 2020
First Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated By-Laws, effective February 24,
2022
Description of Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s Registered Securities
Section 382 Rights Agreement, dated as of August 14, 2020, by and between Enzon
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, which includes the
Form of Certificate of Designation as Exhibit A, Form of Rights Certificate as Exhibit B
and the Form of Summary of Rights as Exhibit C
First Amendment to the Section 382 Rights Agreement, dated as of June 4, 2021 and
effective as of June 2, 2021, by and between Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Continental
Stock Transfer & Trust Company.
Development, License and Supply Agreement between Enzon, Inc. (now known as Enzon
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.) and Schering Corporation dated November 14, 1990, as amended*
Amended and Restated 2013 Outside Director Compensation Plan**
Amended and Restated Exclusive IP Marketing Agreement, dated as of June 28, 2004, by
and between Micromet AG and Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Letter Agreement, dated January 30, 2019, between Servier IP UK Limited and Enzon
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Investment Agreement, dated as of September 1, 2020, by and between Enzon
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Icahn Capital LP
Independent Contractor Agreement, effective as of February 24, 2022, between Enzon
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Richard L. Feinstein **
Subsidiaries of Registrant
Consent of EisnerAmper LLP
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Reference
No.
(1)
(2)
(4)
(5)
+
+
(4)

(6)
(3)
(7)
(8)
(8)
(9)
+
+
+

31.1

Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002***
Inline XBRL Instance Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
Inline XBRL Calculation Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Labels Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Presentation Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Definition Linkbase Document
Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in the Interactive
Data Files submitted as Exhibit 101)

32.1
101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.LAB
101.PRE
101.DEF
104

+
+
+
+
+
+
+
+
+
+

+

Filed herewith

*

Portions of this exhibit have been redacted and filed separately with the SEC pursuant to a confidential
treatment request.

**

Management contracts or compensatory plans and arrangements required to be filed pursuant to Item 601(b)
(10)(ii)(A) or (iii) of Regulation S-K.

***

These certifications are not deemed filed by the SEC and are not to be incorporated by reference in any filing
the Company makes under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, irrespective of any
general incorporation language in any filings.

Referenced exhibit was previously filed with the SEC as an exhibit to the Company’s filing indicated below and is
incorporated herein by reference to that filing:
(1)

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2010 filed August 9, 2010

(2)

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012 filed March 18, 2013

(3)

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2002 filed on September 26, 2002

(4)

Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 14, 2020

(5)

Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 23, 2020

(6)

Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 8, 2021

(7)

Quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2013 filed August 6, 2013

(8)

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018 filed on February 21, 2019

(9)

Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 1, 2020

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary
None.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
ENZON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
(Registrant)
Dated: February 25, 2022

/s/ Richard L. Feinstein
Richard L. Feinstein
Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and
Secretary
(Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Name

Title

Date

/s/ Richard L. Feinstein
Richard L. Feinstein

Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary
(Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer)

February 25, 2022

/s/ Randolph C. Read
Randolph C. Read

Director (Chairman of the Board)

February 25, 2022

/s/ Jordan Bleznick
Jordan Bleznick

Director

February 25, 2022
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the related consolidated statements of operations, mezzanine equity
and stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years then ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to as
the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the consolidated results of their operations and
their cash flows for each of the years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement,
whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its
internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control
over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test
basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Critical Audit Matter
The critical audit matter communicated below arises from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements
that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or
disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging,
subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on
the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below,
providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.
Assessment of realizability of deferred tax assets
As discussed in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company records a valuation allowance based on the
assessment of the realizability of the Company’s deferred tax assets. For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company
had deferred tax assets before valuation allowances of $38.2 million. As of December 31, 2021, the Company has
recognized a full valuation allowance on the deferred tax assets. In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets the
Company must assess its tax planning strategies, enacted and effective tax law considerations, and whether sufficient future
taxable income will be generated to support the realization of the existing deferred tax assets before expiration, using
assumptions about Company-specific conditions and events.
F-2

We identified the assessment of realizability of deferred tax assets as a critical audit matter due to the significant judgment
and estimation required by management in their assessment. This in turn led to a high degree of auditor subjectivity and
significant audit effort was required in performing our procedures and evaluating audit evidence relating to estimates and
assumptions made by management.
Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence, in connection with forming our
overall opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We obtained an understanding and evaluated the design of
controls over the valuation of deferred taxes. Our procedures also included, among others, an evaluation of: (a) the
expiration dates of certain deferred tax assets, primarily federal and state net operating loss carryforwards, (b) whether the
Company may have experienced an ownership change resulting in annual limitation of net operating loss carryforwards,
and (c) the assumptions used by the Company to develop projections of future taxable income by income tax jurisdiction
and tested the completeness and accuracy of the underlying data used in the projections. We compared the projections of
future taxable income with the actual results of prior periods, as well as management’s consideration of current industry
and economic trends. We also compared the projections of future taxable income with other forecasted financial
information prepared by the Company. These procedures also included, among others, the involvement of professionals
with specialized skills and knowledge to assist in considering whether management demonstrated their ability and intent in
executing planned strategies, including the reasonableness of the application of enacted and effective tax law.
/s/ EisnerAmper LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2013.
EISNERAMPER LLP
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
February 25, 2022
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ENZON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
December 31,
2021
2020

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Royalty receivable
Other current assets
Total assets (all current)

$

47,641
28
85

$

48,142
31
59

$

47,754

$

48,232

$

331
72
403

$

302
110
412

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Mezzanine equity:
Series C preferred stock - $0.01 par value, 40,000 shares authorized, issued and
outstanding (liquidation value $1,062 per share and $1,012 per share) at December 31,
2021 and 2020
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock - $0.01 par value, authorized 2,960,000 shares; no shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2021 and 2020
Common stock - $0.01 par value, authorized 170,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding
74,214,603 shares at December 31, 2021 and 2020
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities, mezzanine equity and stockholders’ equity

$

42,483

40,460

—

—

742
75,983
(71,857)
4,868
47,754

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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$

742
78,006
(71,388)
7,360
48,232

ENZON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Year Ended December 31,
2021
2020

Revenues:
Royalties and milestones, net
Total revenues

$

Operating expenses:
General and administrative
Total operating expenses

701
701

$

1,170
1,170

52
52

1,357
1,357

Operating loss
Other income

(469)
7

(1,305)
1

Loss before income tax expense

(462)

(1,304)

Income tax expense

7

Net loss
Dividends on Series C preferred stock
Net loss available to common shareholders
Loss per common share
Basic and diluted
Weighted average number of common shares
Basic and diluted

$

(469)
(2,023)
(2,492)

$

(1,311)
(460)
(1,771)

$

(0.03)

$

(0.03)

74,215

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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51,100

ENZON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF MEZZANINE EQUITY AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(In thousands)
Mezzanine Equity – Series C
Preferred Stock
Number of
Par
Shares
Value

Balance, December 31, 2019
Net loss
Preferred stock dividend
accumulation
Rights offering, proceeds net of
expenses
Balance, December 31, 2020
Net loss
Preferred stock dividend
accumulation
Balance, December 31, 2021

—
—

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Accumulated
Deficit

$ (70,077) $
(1,311)

—
—

44,215
—

$ 442
—

$ 75,690
—

—

460

—

—

(460)

40
40
—

40,000
40,460
—

30,000
74,215
—

300
742
—

2,776
78,006
—

2,023
42,483

—
74,215

—
$ 742

—
40

$

Common Stock
Number of
Par
Shares
Value

$

—
—
(71,388)
(469)

(2,023)
—
$ 75,983 $ (71,857) $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Total
Stockholders'
Equity

6,055
(1,311)
(460)
3,076
7,360
(469)
(2,023)
4,868

ENZON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
Year Ended December 31,
2021
2020

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Decrease (increase) in other current assets and accounts receivable
Decrease in refundable tax credit receivable
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable
(Decrease) increase in accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities

$

(469)

(1,311)

(23)
—
29
(38)
(501)

(28)
970
(22)
11
(380)

$

(524)
43,600
43,076
42,696
5,446
48,142

$

Cash flows from financing activities:
Payment of offering costs
Proceeds from rights offering
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net (decrease) increase in cash
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

$

—
—
—
(501)
48,142
47,641

Non-cash financing activities:
Accretion of dividend for Series C Preferred Stock

$

2,023

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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$

460

ENZON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(1)

Description of Business

Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, the “Company,” “Enzon,” “we” or “us”) is positioned
as a public company acquisition vehicle, where it can become an acquisition platform and more fully utilize its net
operating loss carryforwards (“NOLs”) and enhance stockholder value.
In September 2020, the Company initiated a rights offering for its common and preferred stock (see below and
Note 13 to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements), which closed in October 2020, and it realized $43.6 million
in gross proceeds. This has enabled the Company to embark on its plan to realize the value of its more than $100 million
net NOLs by acquiring potentially profitable businesses or assets. To protect the NOLs, in August 2020, the Company’s
Board of Directors adopted a Section 382 rights plan (see Note 12 to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements).
Historically, the Company had received royalty revenues from licensing arrangements with other companies
primarily related to sales of certain drug products that utilized Enzon’s proprietary technology. In recent years, the
Company has had no clinical operations and limited corporate operations. Enzon has a marketing agreement in the drug
Vicineum, which, if approved, will, potentially, generate milestone and royalty payments to it in the future. Enzon cannot
assure you that it will earn material future royalties or milestones.
The Company's Board of Directors (the "Board") and its management are actively involved in pursuing, sourcing,
reviewing and evaluating various potential acquisition transactions consistent with its long-term strategy. The Company's
management and Board have made a number of contacts and engaged in discussions with principals of individual
companies and financial advisors on behalf of various individual companies, while continuing to evaluate potential
transactions. To date, no actionable transactions have been initiated.
The Company has a marketing agreement with Micromet AG, now part of Amgen, Inc. (the “Micromet
Agreement”), pursuant to which it may be entitled to certain milestone and royalty payments if Vicineum, a drug being
developed by Sesen, Inc., is approved for the treatment of non-muscle invasive bladder cancer. In a press release dated
February 16, 2021, Sesen announced that the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (the “FDA”) had accepted for filing
Sesen’s Biologic License Application (“BLA”) for Vicineum. The FDA further granted Priority Review, with a target
Prescription Drug User Fee Act (“PDUFA”) date for a decision on the BLA of August 18, 2021. Accordingly, the
Company earned a milestone of $409,430 in the first quarter of 2021, all of which was received by June 30, 2021.
However, on August 13, 2021, Sesen announced that it had received a Complete Response Letter (“CRL”) from the FDA
and that the FDA had determined that it cannot approve the BLA for Vicineum in its present form and had provided
recommendations specific to additional clinical/statistical data and analyses in addition to Chemistry, Manufacturing and
Controls (“CMA”) issues pertaining to a recent preapproval inspection and product quality. In a press release that Sesen
issued on December 9, 2021, it noted that on December 8, 2021 it had a Clinical Type A meeting with the FDA and
received greater clarity regarding the requirements for resubmission of the BLA and trial design, which may include a
randomized clinical trial assessing the safety and efficacy of Vicineum compared to investigators’ choice of intravesical
chemotherapy. In a filing with the U. S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) in March 2021, Sesen noted that it
had received notice from the European Medicines Agency (“EMA”) that its Marketing Authorization Application
(“MMA”) for Vicineum was found to be valid and the review procedure had officially started. Accordingly, the Company
earned and received an additional milestone of $292,284 in the second quarter of 2021. Subsequently, on August 25, 2021,
Sesen announced that it had withdrawn its application to market Vicineum in Europe.
During the fourth quarters of 2021 and 2020, we received a license maintenance fee of approximately $28,000 and
$30,000, respectively, from Amgen, Inc. in payment of a worldwide, royalty-free non-exclusive right to license Vicineum.
The fee represents half of the amount paid by Viventia Biotech (Barbados) Inc. (“Viventia”), part of Sesen, on an annual
basis for the continued right to license Vicineum.
F-8

ENZON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
In August 2020, the Board adopted a Section 382 rights plan and declared a dividend distribution of one right for
each outstanding share of the Company’s common stock to stockholders of record at the close of business on August 24,
2020. (See Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.)
In September 2020, the Board approved a Rights Offering (the “Rights Offering”), by which the Company
distributed, at no charge to all holders of its common stock on September 23, 2020 (the “Record Date”), transferable
subscription rights to purchase units (“Units”) at a subscription price per Unit of $1,090. In the Rights Offering, each
stockholder on the Record Date received one subscription right for every share of common stock owned on the Record
Date. For every 1,105 subscription rights held, a stockholder was entitled to purchase one Unit at the subscription price.
Each Unit consisted of one share of newly designated Series C Preferred Stock, par value $0.01 per share, and 750 shares
of the Company’s common stock. The subscription period for the Rights Offering ended on October 9, 2020.
As a result of the sale of all 40,000 Units available for purchase in the Rights Offering, the Company received
approximately $43.6 million of gross proceeds and had 40,000 shares of Series C Preferred Stock outstanding and an
aggregate of 74,214,603 shares of common stock outstanding following the Rights Offering. (See Note 13 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.)
On an annual basis, the Board may, at its sole discretion, cause a dividend with respect to the Series C Preferred
Stock to be paid in cash to the holders in an amount equal to 3% of the liquidation preference as in effect at such time
(initially $1,000 per share). If the dividend is not so paid in cash, the liquidation preference is adjusted and increased
annually by an amount equal to 5% of the liquidation preference per share as in effect at such time, that is not paid in cash
to the holders on such date. The Board did not declare a dividend as of December 31, 2021 or 2020 and, at December 31,
2021 and 2020, the liquidation value of the Series C Preferred Stock was $1,062 and $1,012 per share, respectively. (See
Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.)
The Company maintains its principal executive offices at 20 Commerce Drive, Suite 135, Cranford, New Jersey
07016 through a service agreement with Regus Management Group, LLC.
(2)

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its wholly owned
subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated as part of the consolidation.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. These estimates include legal
and contractual contingencies and income taxes. Although management bases its estimates on historical experience,
relevant current information and various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances,
actual results could differ from these estimates.
Financial Instruments and Fair Value
The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, royalty receivable, other current assets, accounts payable,
accrued expenses and other current liabilities in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets approximated their fair values
at December 31, 2021 and 2020 due to their short-term nature. As of each of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company
held cash equivalents aggregating approximately $43.6 million.
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ENZON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Revenue Recognition
Royalty revenues from the Company’s agreements with third parties are recognized when the Company can
reasonably determine the amounts earned. In most cases, this will be upon notification from the third-party licensee, which
is typically during the quarter following the quarter in which the sales occurred. The Company does not participate in the
selling or marketing of products for which it receives royalties. Because the Company records revenue only when
collection is assured, no provision for uncollectible accounts is established upon recognition of revenues.
Contingent payments due under the Asset Purchase Agreement for the sale of the Company’s former specialty
pharmaceutical business are recognized as income when the milestone has been achieved and collection is assured, such
payments are non-refundable and no further effort is required on the part of the Company or the other party to complete the
earning process.
Income Taxes
Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognized for the estimated future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying
amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in
which those temporary differences are expected to be realized. The effect of a change in tax rates or laws on deferred tax
assets and liabilities is recognized in operations in the period that includes the enactment date of the rate change. A
valuation allowance is established to reduce the deferred tax assets to the amounts that are more likely than not to be
realized from operations.
Tax benefits of uncertain tax positions are recognized only if it is more likely than not that the Company will be
able to sustain a position taken on an income tax return. The Company has no liability for uncertain tax positions. Interest
and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits would be recognized as income tax expense.
(3)

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Recent Accounting Standards Updates issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the "FASB") and
guidance issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission did not, or are not believed by management to, have a
material effect on the Company's present or future consolidated financial statements.
(4)

Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

Prior to 2017, the Company’s primary source of royalty revenues was derived from sales of PegIntron, which is
marketed by Merck & Co., Inc. (“Merck”). At December 31, 2020, we recorded a liability to Merck of approximately
$302,000, based primarily on Merck’s assertions regarding recoupments related to prior returns and rebates. During the
year ended December 31, 2021, additional recoupments claimed by Merck related to PegIntron were approximately
$29,000. As such, as asserted by Merck, the Company’s recorded liability to Merck was $331,000 at December 31, 2021.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, net royalties from PegIntron were approximately $22,000.
The Company believes that it will receive little or no future royalties from Merck, but may be charged with
additional chargebacks from returns and rebates in amounts that, based on current estimates, are not expected to be
material.
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ENZON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the following as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 (in
thousands):

Professional and consulting fees
Other

December 31,
2021

December 31,
2020

$

$

$
(5)

61
11
72

$

92
18
110

Stockholders’ Equity

Preferred Stock
The Company has authorized 3,000,000 shares of preferred stock in one or more series of which, at December 31,
2021, 40,000 shares have been issued, are outstanding and are designated as Series C Preferred Stock in connection with
the Rights Offering discussed in Note 14 and 100,000 shares have been designated as Series A-1 Junior Participating
Preferred Stock in connection with the August 2020 Section 382 rights plan discussed in Note 12.
Common Stock
As of December 31, 2021, the Company reserved 9,818,392 shares of its common stock for the non-qualified and
incentive stock plans.
(6)

Cash Dividend

No dividend on the shares of the Company's common stock has been paid or declared during the years ended
December 31, 2021 and 2020.
(7)

Loss Per Common Share

Basic earnings (loss) per common share (EPS) is calculated by dividing net income (loss), less any dividends,
accretion or reduction or redemption on the Company’s Series C Preferred Stock, by the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding during the reported period. Restricted stock awards and restricted stock units (collectively,
“nonvested shares”) are not considered to be outstanding shares until the service or performance vesting period has been
completed.
The diluted earnings per common share calculation would normally involve adjusting both the denominator and
numerator as described here if the effect is dilutive.
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ENZON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For purposes of calculating diluted earnings per common share, the denominator normally includes both the
weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding and the number of common stock equivalents if the
inclusion of such common stock equivalents is dilutive. Because a loss was incurred in each of the years ended December
31, 2021 and 2020, common stock equivalents would be anti-dilutive and, accordingly, were excluded from the calculation
of diluted loss per share in each of the periods. Dilutive common stock equivalents potentially include stock options and
nonvested shares using the treasury stock method and shares issuable under the employee stock purchase plan. During each
of the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, there were no common stock equivalents. Loss per common share
information was as follows (in thousands, except per share amounts) for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020:
2021

Loss per Common Share – Basic and Diluted
Net loss for year
Dividends on Series C preferred stock
Net loss available to common shareholders

$
$

(469)
(2,023)
(2,492)

2020

$
$

74,215

Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding
$

Basic and diluted loss per common share

(0.03)

(1,311)
(460)
(1,771)
51,100

$

(0.03)

At each of December 31, 2021 and 2020, options for 25,000 shares, respectively, were outstanding that have been
excluded from the calculation of diluted weighted-average number of shares outstanding, as they would be anti-dilutive,
since the respective options’ strike price was greater than the market price of the respective shares.
(8)

Stock Options

Through the Compensation Committee of the Board, the Company administers the 2011 Stock Option and
Incentive Plan (the "2011 Plan"), which provides incentive and non-qualified stock option benefits for employees, officers,
directors and independent contractors providing services to Enzon. Options granted to employees generally vest over four
years from date of grant and options granted to directors vest after one year. The exercise price of the options granted must
be at least 100 percent of the fair value of the Company’s common stock at the time the options are granted. Options may
be exercised for a period of up to ten years from the grant date. As of December 31, 2020, the 2011 Plan authorized equitybased awards for 5.0 million common shares of which approximately 4.6 million shares remained available for grant.
However, this 2011 Plan and the Company’s other stock option plans, including the 2001 Incentive Stock Plan and the
1987 Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan, were terminated effective February 24, 2022 and, as such, there will be no further
grants made pursuant these plans.
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The following summary of the activity in the Company’s outstanding stock option plans, includes the 2011 Stock
Option and Incentive Plan, the 2001 Incentive Stock Plan, and the 1987 Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan and reflects the
equitable adjustments approved by the Board (options in thousands):
Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price Per
Option

Options

Outstanding at December 31, 2021 and 2020
December 31, 2020
Expired and forfeited
December 31, 2021

25
—
25

$

Vested at December 31, 2021 and 2020
December 31, 2020
Expired and forfeited
December 31, 2021

25
—
25

$

Exercisable at December 31, 2021 and 2020
December 31, 2020
Expired and forfeited
December 31, 2021

25
—
25

$

$

$

$

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term (years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value ($000)

1.31
—
1.31

1.05
—
0.05

$

1.31
—
1.31

1.05
—
0.05

$

1.31
—
1.31

1.05
—
0.05

$

$

$

$

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

As of December 31, 2021, there was no unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested options that the
Company expects to recognize.
No options were granted during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. The options for 25,000 shares of
the Company’s common stock that were outstanding at December 31, 2021 expired on January 17, 2022.
During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company recorded no stock-based compensation
related to stock options. The Company’s policy is to use newly issued shares to satisfy the exercise of stock options.
The Company received no cash from exercises of stock options during either of the years ended December 31,
2021 and 2020.
(9)

Income Taxes
The components of the income tax provision are summarized as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2021
2020

Current:
Federal
State and foreign
Total current
Deferred:
Federal and state

$

—
7
7

$

—
$

Income tax provision
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ENZON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
The following table represents the reconciliation between the reported income taxes and the income taxes that
would be computed by applying the federal statutory rate (21% for years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020) to income
before taxes (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2021
2020

Income tax provision at federal statutory rate
Add (deduct) effect of:
State income taxes, net of federal tax
Expiration of federal research and development credits
Change in valuation allowance

$

(97)

$

(28)
1,016
(884)
$

Income tax provision

7

(274)
(86)
1,039
(672)

$

7

No federal income tax expense was incurred in relation to normal operating results.
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the cumulative tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to the
deferred tax assets were as follows (in thousands):

Deferred tax assets:
Federal and state net operating loss carryforward
Research and development credits carryforward
Total gross deferred tax assets
Less valuation allowance
Net deferred tax assets

December 31,
2021

December 31,
2020

$

$

$

23,530
13,780
37,310
(37,310)
—

$

23,398
14,795
38,193
(38,193)
—

ASC 740 requires the reduction of deferred tax assets by a valuation allowance if, based on the weight of available
evidence, it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. For the period ended
December 31, 2020, the Company believed that it was more likely than not that future taxable income would not exist to
utilize some or all of its deferred tax assets. Accordingly, it recorded a valuation allowance in the amount of its total
deferred tax assets for the period ended December 31, 2020. In 2021, the Company generated approximately $468,000 in
taxable loss before utilization of NOLs. The Company utilized none of the NOLs due to the taxable loss position. Due to
the valuation allowance placed on its deferred tax assets, the deferred tax expense resulting from the usage and/or
expiration of deferred tax assets was offset by a corresponding deferred tax benefit from a reduction in valuation
allowance, and the Company recorded no deferred tax expense at December 31, 2021. The Company intends to acquire
profitable businesses, entities or revenue streams that will generate sufficient income so that it can utilize its approximately
$103.4 million NOL. To date, no actionable acquisition candidates have been identified and, while the Company expects
that, ultimately, it will be successful in realizing the value of its NOLs, the Company cannot provide assurance that it will
be able to do so.
Management of the Company will continue to assess the need for this valuation allowance and will make
adjustments when appropriate.
At December 31, 2021, the Company had federal NOLs of approximately $103.4 million, of which approximately
$100.6 million will expire in the years 2025 through 2036, and New Jersey state NOLs of approximately $25.7 million that
expire in the years 2031 through 2041. Under the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, federal net operating losses generated in tax years
beginning after December 31, 2017 have an unlimited carryforward period, and the amount of net operating loss allowed to
be utilized each year is limited to 80% of taxable income.
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The Company also had federal research and development (“R&D”) credit carryforwards of approximately $1.0
million that expired in 2021. The Company has remaining R&D credit carryforwards of approximately $13.8 million that
expire in the years 2022 through 2029. These deferred tax assets were subject to a valuation allowance such that the
deferred tax expense incurred as a result of the expiration of the capital loss and R&D credit carryforwards was offset by a
corresponding deferred tax benefit for the related reduction in valuation allowance.
The Company’s ability to use the NOLs and R&D tax credit carryforwards may be limited, as they are subject to
certain limitations due to ownership changes as defined by rules pursuant to Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended. However, management of the Company believes that the Company’s NOLs will not be limited by any
changes in the Company’s ownership as a result of the successful completion of the Rights Offering. (See Note 13 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.) Additionally, in an effort to protect stockholder value by attempting to protect against
a possible limitation on the Company’s ability to use its NOLs, the Board adopted a Section 382 rights plan. (See Note 12
to the Consolidated Financial Statements.)
The Company has not recorded a liability for unrecognized income tax benefits.
(10)

Significant Agreements

Merck Agreement
See Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements regarding Merck royalty revenues.
Sesen Agreement
See Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements regarding the Servier milestone obligation to the Company.
(11)

Commitments and Contingent Liabilities

In December 2019, an outbreak of a novel strain of coronavirus (COVID-19) was reported in Wuhan, China.
Despite recent progress in the administration of vaccines, both the outbreak of recent variants, including Delta and
Omicron, and the related containment measures that have been put in place across the globe, have had and are likely to
continue to have a serious adverse impact on the global economy and may adversely affect the Company’s business
operations. The ongoing global health crisis (including resurgences) resulting from the pandemic have disrupted, and
continue to disrupt, the normal operations of many businesses, including restrictions such as the temporary closure or
scale-back of business operations and/or the imposition of either quarantine or remote work requirements for employees,
either by government order or on a voluntary basis. It is impossible to predict the effect and ultimate impact of the COVID19 pandemic, as the situation is continually evolving. The COVID-19 pandemic may continue to disrupt the global supply
chain and may cause disruptions to the Company’s operations, financial condition and prospects. At the present time, the
Company’s business activities have been largely unaffected by COVID-19 restrictions as the Company’s workforce is
comprised solely of independent contractors who are able to perform their duties remotely. However, these restrictions may
impact the third parties who are responsible for obtaining final approval of and manufacturing product candidates for
which the Company shares the right to receive licensing fees, milestone payments and royalty revenues. If those third
parties are required to curtail their business activities for a significant time, or if global supply chain disruptions impact
their ability to procure needed resources, raw materials or components, the Company’s right to receive licensing fees,
milestone payments or royalties could be materially and adversely affected. Additionally, the development timeline for
product candidates being developed by third parties that are pending before the FDA or other regulatory approval could be
delayed if the agency is required to shift resources to the review and approval of candidates for treatment of COVID-19. In
addition, the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic may negatively impact the Company’s search for a target company, as
well as the business and/or results of operations of any target business that the Company acquires or in which the Company
invests.
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The Company has been involved in various claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. In
the opinion of management, the ultimate disposition of these matters will not have a material effect on the Company’s
consolidated financial position, results of operations, or liquidity.
(12)

Section 382 Rights Plan

On August 14, 2020, in an effort to protect stockholder value by attempting to protect against a possible limitation
on the Company’s ability to use its NOLs, the Board adopted a Section 382 rights plan and declared a dividend distribution
of one right for each outstanding share of the Company’s common stock to stockholders of record at the close of business
on August 24, 2020. Accordingly, holders of the Company’s common stock own one preferred stock purchase right for
each share of common stock owned by such holder. The rights are not immediately exercisable and will become
exercisable only upon the occurrence of certain events as set forth in the Section 382 rights plan. If the rights become
exercisable, each right would initially represent the right to purchase from the Company one one-thousandth of a share of
the Company’s Series A-1 Junior Participating Preferred Stock, par value $0.01 per share, for a purchase price of $1.20 per
right. If issued, each fractional share of Series A-1 Junior Participating Preferred Stock would give the stockholder
approximately the same dividend, voting and liquidation rights as does one share of the Company’s common stock.
However, prior to exercise, a right does not give its holder any rights as a stockholder of the Company, including any
dividend, voting or liquidation rights. The rights will expire on the earliest of (i) the close of business on June 2, 2024
(unless that date is advanced or extended by the Board), (ii) the time at which the rights are redeemed or exchanged under
the Section 382 rights plan, (iii) the close of business on the day of repeal of Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code or
any successor statute or (iv) the close of business on the first day of a taxable year of the Company to which the
Company’s Board of Directors determines that no NOLs may be carried forward.
(13)

Rights Offering

On September 1, 2020, the Board approved a Rights Offering. For every 1,105 subscription rights held, a
stockholder was entitled to purchase one Unit at the subscription price of $1,090. Each Unit consisted of one share of
newly designated Series C Preferred Stock, par value $0.01 per share, and 750 shares of the Company’s common stock. On
October 9, 2020, the Rights Offering expired and, as a result of the sale of all 40,000 Units, the Company received
approximately $43.6 million in gross proceeds and issued shares of Series C Preferred Stock and shares of common stock
such that, following the closing of the Rights Offering, there was an aggregate of 40,000 shares of Series C Preferred Stock
outstanding and 74,214,603 shares of common stock outstanding.
On an annual basis, the Board may, at its sole discretion, cause a dividend with respect to the Series C Preferred
Stock to be paid in cash to the holders in an amount equal to 3% of the liquidation preference as in effect at such time
(initially $1,000 per share). If the dividend is not so paid in cash, the liquidation preference is adjusted and increased
annually by an amount equal to 5% of the liquidation preference per share as in effect at such time, that is not paid in cash
to the holders on such date. Holders of Series C Preferred Stock do not have any voting rights and the Series C Preferred
Stock is not convertible into shares of the Company’s common stock. The initial liquidation value of the Series C Preferred
Stock was $1,000 per share. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the liquidation value of the Series C Preferred Stock was
$1,062 and $1,012 per share, respectively, inasmuch as no dividend was declared or paid in cash. On or after November 1,
2022, the Company may redeem the Series C Preferred Stock at any time, in whole or in part, for an amount based on the
liquidation preference per share as in effect at such time. Holders of Series C Preferred Stock have the right to demand that
the Company redeem their shares in the event that the Company undergoes a change of control as defined in the Certificate
of Designation of the Series C Preferred Stock.
(14)

Series C Preferred Stock

In October 2020, the Company issued 40,000 shares of Series C Preferred Stock for an aggregate purchase price
of $40.0 million.
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As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company’s Board of Directors had not declared a cash dividend on the
Series C Preferred Stock. Accordingly, during the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recorded a 5% increase to
the liquidation preference of approximately $50 per share of Series C Preferred Stock, aggregating approximately
$2,023,000, for a cumulative liquidation value of approximately $42,483,000 ($1,062 per share) as of December 31, 2021
and, as of December 31, 2020, the Company recorded a 5% increase (computed on a pro rata basis) to the liquidation
preference of approximately $12 per share of Series C Preferred Stock, aggregating approximately $460,000, for a
cumulative liquidation value of approximately $40,460,000 ($1,012 per share).
There is no prohibition on the repurchase or redemption of Series C Preferred Shares while there is any arrearage
in the payment of dividends.
Since the redemption of the Series C Preferred Stock is contingently or optionally redeemable, the Series C
Preferred Stock has been classified in mezzanine equity on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
(15)

Subsequent Events

On February 24, 2022, the Company entered into a revised consulting agreement with Richard L. Feinstein, the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary. The agreement provides for Mr. Feinstein’s
consulting fee to be set at $200,000 per year and an incentive up to 25% of that amount at the discretion of the Board based
on the Company’s and Mr. Feinstein’s performance.
In addition, on February 24, 2022, the Board approved an amendment to the Company’s Second Amended and
Restated By-Laws to provide that the Board shall no longer require at least three directors but can consist of at least one
director.
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Exhibit 3.5
INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT
This Independent Contractor Agreement (the “Agreement”) is effective as of February 24, 2022 (the “Effective Date”) by and
between Richard L. Feinstein, CPA (“Feinstein”) and Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Enzon”), pursuant to which Feinstein is being
engaged to serve as Enzon’s Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary. This Agreement supersedes and replaces in
its entirety the Independent Contractor Agreement between the Feinstein and Enzon dated as of December 13, 2013.
RECITALS
WHEREAS, Enzon desires to continue to retain the services of Feinstein, and Feinstein desires to provide such services to
Enzon, subject to the terms and conditions contained herein.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements contained herein, the receipt and sufficiency of
which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:
1.

Feinstein’s Position and Duties; Term.

A.
Feinstein is hereby engaged by Enzon as an independent contractor to serve as the Chief Executive Officer,
Chief Financial Officer and Secretary of Enzon and Feinstein shall perform such services as are customarily associated with his positions
and such additional services consistent with his positions as may, from time to time, be properly and lawfully assigned to him by the
Board of Directors (the “Services”). Without derogating from the foregoing, Feinstein will work at the request of Enzon as and when
requested by Enzon or its Board of Directors.
B.
The term of this Agreement (the “Term”) shall commence on the Effective Date and continue until terminated
by either party with or without cause upon receipt of written notice.
2.

Independent Contractor Relationship.

A.
The relationship between Enzon and Feinstein shall be that of independent contracting parties and shall not be
deemed to be any other relationship, including, without limitation, that of principal and agent. Nothing herein shall be construed to create
the relationship of employer and employee between Enzon and Feinstein. Feinstein shall exercise his own independent judgment as to
the method and manner of performance of the Services hereunder. Enzon does not seek, and shall not expect, any control over Feinstein’s
performance of the Services; provided, however, Feinstein shall conform to such policies and procedures established by Enzon and to
such customary standards which are necessary to satisfy applicable statutes, rules or regulations governing the provision of such
Services. Enzon shall not be obligated to provide any employee-related benefit to Feinstein, including, but not limited to, Workers
Compensation insurance, unemployment insurance, disability insurance, health or accident insurance, nor will Enzon make any
contributions for Social Security, or withholding taxes on behalf of Enzon. Feinstein acknowledges that Enzon will not provide any
benefits or participation in any benefit plan applicable to an employer-employee relationship. Feinstein shall be solely responsible for the
payment of all applicable governmental taxes, including federal, state and local taxes, and Social Security contributions.
B.
Feinstein is free to devote whatever time he chooses to any other business in which he may choose to engage,
provided he complies with all applicable regulatory rules. Feinstein may determine his own hours of work and may perform the Services
in any manner or sequence he determines, subject, however, to such restrictions as may exist in order to comply with the policies of
Enzon or to satisfy the requirements or standards of the statutes, rules or regulations governing the Services.

C.

Feinstein has not received any training from Enzon and Enzon will not provide any training to Feinstein.

D.
Feinstein shall not have the authority to hire, direct and pay other persons in connection with the Services
without the prior written consent of Enzon. Any person so employed by Feinstein shall be the employee of Feinstein and shall not be the
employee or agent of Enzon.
3.

Compliance With Statutes, Rules And Regulations.

As part of the proper performance of the Services, at all times during the Term, Feinstein shall comply with all
applicable statutes, regulations, rules and written statements of policy promulgated and administered by the Securities and Exchange
Commission and any state or municipal governmental or regulatory agency; and the rules of any national securities exchange or
association in which Enzon is or may become a member.
4.

Fees.

A.
During the Term, Enzon shall pay Feinstein’s fees at an annualized amount of $200,000 (the “Fees”) (in biweekly installments in the amount of $7,671.23) in connection with the Services. Feinstein shall perform the Services at such times and
as requested by Enzon.
B.
For each fiscal year in the Term, Feinstein shall be eligible to earn up to an additional 25% of the Fees based
on his performance and that of Enzon, at the discretion of the Board of Directors.
C.
Enzon will reimburse Feinstein for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by Feinstein in connection
with the performance of the Services during the Term, including: (i) mileage at the rate of fifty (50) cents per mile for any driving that
may be required in connection with Feinstein’s performance of the Services; (ii) tolls; (iii) supplies; and (iv) other reasonable expenses
incurred by Feinstein in connection with the performance of the Services. Feinstein will submit receipts or documentation of expenses
during the Term and Enzon will pay each such proper bill within twelve (12) business days of its receipt.
5.

Warranties.

A.
Each party warrants to the other that it has the authority to enter into and perform this agreement, and its
performance hereunder will not result in the breach or violation of any contract, arrangement or understanding it may have with any third
party. Each party warrants to the other that it will comply in all material respects with all applicable laws, rules and regulations.
B.
Consultant shall perform the services in accordance with the highest professional standards and in compliance
with all applicable laws and regulations.
6.
Indemnification. Feinstein shall be entitled to the same indemnification rights from Enzon under the bylaws of Enzon
as are applicable to all other directors and officers of Enzon and covered by the same Directors and Officers Insurance as all other
officers and directors of Enzon.
7.

Confidentiality.

A.
Feinstein acknowledges and agrees that during the Term, he will have access to “Confidential Information”
concerning Enzon, its affiliates, and their clients and employees, and that such Confidential Information constitutes a valuable and
unique asset of Enzon. For purposes of this Agreement, Confidential Information includes, but is not limited to, proprietary information
pertaining to Enzon, its affiliates and clients, including business plans (both current and under development), data, trade secrets, financial
information, costs, revenues, profits, methodologies, information concerning clients and potential clients, compilations, systems,
technologies, computer programs, potential acquisition targets and all other information which Enzon and its clients treat as confidential.
All Confidential Information obtained by Feinstein in the course

2

of providing the Services shall be deemed confidential and proprietary. Feinstein covenants and agrees that, during the Term and at all
times thereafter, Feinstein will not, except as may be required by applicable law, regulation, legal process, or the request of any
regulatory or self-regulatory authority, (i) for any reason use for Feinstein’s own benefit or the benefit of any person or entity with which
Feinstein may be associated, or disclose any Confidential Information to any person or entity, for any reason or purpose, without the
prior written consent of Enzon; or (ii) remove or cause to be removed from Enzon’s office any Confidential Information or material
relating thereto for purposes other than those for use in connection with Feinstein’s Services. Upon the expiration of the Term (including
any renewal thereof), Feinstein agrees to return to Enzon all tangible embodiments of all Confidential Information in Feinstein’s
possession or control, nor will Feinstein retain any copy or records of such Confidential Information, in hard copy or electronic form.
B.
Nothing in this Agreement prohibits Feinstein from reporting any possible violations of federal law or
regulation to any government agency or entity, including but not limited to the Department of Justice and the Securities and Exchange
Commission, or making any other disclosures that are protected under the whistleblower provisions of Federal law or regulation.
Feinstein is not required to notify Enzon that he will make or has made such reports or disclosures. Non-compliance with the disclosure
provisions of this Agreement shall not subject Feinstein to criminal or civil liability under any Federal or State trade secret law for the
disclosure of an Enzon trade secret if the disclosure is made: (i) in confidence to a Federal, State or local government official, either
directly or indirectly, or to an attorney in confidence solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; (ii)
in a complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or other proceeding, provided that any complaint or document containing the trade
secret is filed under seal; or (iii) to an attorney representing Feinstein in a lawsuit for retaliation by Enzon for reporting a suspected
violation of law or to use the trade secret information in that court proceeding, provided that any document containing the trade secret is
filed under seal and Feinstein does not disclose the trade secret, except pursuant to court order.
8.

Miscellaneous.

A.
This Agreement shall in all respects be governed by, and construed and enforced in accordance with the laws
of, the State of New Jersey, without giving effect to its conflicts of laws provisions.
B.
This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their permitted
successors and assigns. This Agreement may not be assigned by Feinstein without the prior written consent of Enzon.
C.
This Agreement is not a contract of employment or service for any specific or minimum term and the
arrangement set forth above is terminable at will. Feinstein may resign his employment or service, and Enzon likewise may terminate his
employment or service, at any time, for any reason, with or without cause or advance notice and without any liability on the part of
Enzon for severance.
D.
The terms of this Agreement cannot be modified, altered or changed, except in a writing signed by both
parties. From and after the Effective Date, this Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties hereto, and supersedes all
prior representations, agreements and understandings, both written and oral, relating to any services rendered by Feinstein to Enzon or
any of its affiliates, including, without limitation, the Independent Contractor Agreement between the Feinstein and Enzon dated as of
December 13, 2013, which agreement shall be considered null and void as of the Effective Date without any further action or notice.
C.
Any notice provided for in this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be either personally delivered, sent by
electronic mail, or sent by reputable overnight carrier, in each case with proof of receipt, to the recipient. Notices to Feinstein shall be
sent to the address that he most recently provided to Enzon. Notices to Enzon should be sent to Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc., P.O. Box
570005, Houston, Texas, 77257, Attn: Chairman of the Board, Email RCRead@icmgi.com, with a copy to Todd E. Mason, 335 Madison
Avenue 12th Floor, New York, New York, 10017, Email Todd.Mason@ThompsonHine.com. Any notice under this Agreement will be
deemed to have been given when so delivered, sent or emailed.
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(Signature page follows)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the Effective Date.
Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
By: /s/ Randolph C. Read
Randolph C. Read
Chairman of the Board
/s/ Richard L. Feinstein
Richard L. Feinstein, CPA
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Exhibit 4.1
DESCRIPTION OF ENZON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.’S REGISTERED SECURITIES
The following description of the common stock, $0.01 par value (“Common Stock”), of Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“us”,
“our”, or the “Company”) and the Series A-1 Junior Participating Preferred Stock Purchase Rights (the “Rights”) is a summary. This
summary is not complete and is subject to and qualified in its entirety by reference to the complete text of our Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation, as amended (“Certificate”), and our Second Amended and Restated By-Laws, as amended (“By-Laws”),
each previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and incorporated by reference as an exhibit to the Annual Report on
Form 10-K of which this Exhibit 4.1 is a part, as well as to the relevant provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the
“DGCL”). The Common Stock and the Rights are the only classes of securities of the Company registered under Section 12 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
General
The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of: (i) 170,000,000 shares of Common Stock, and (ii) 3,000,000 shares of
preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share (“Preferred Stock”).
Common Stock
Dividends
Holders of Common Stock are entitled to receive dividends when, as and if declared by our Board of Directors out of funds
legally available for their payment, subject to the rights of holders of any Preferred Stock that may be issued and outstanding and to
restrictions contained in agreements to which the Company is a party.
Voting Rights
Each holder of our Common Stock is entitled to one vote per share on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders. Generally,
a matter submitted for stockholder action shall be approved if a majority of the votes cast at such meeting by the holders of shares of
Common Stock present in person or represented by proxy and entitled to vote thereon are cast “for” the matter, unless a greater or
different vote is required by statute, any applicable law or regulation, the rights of any authorized series of Preferred Stock, or our
Certificate or By-Laws. Other than in a contested election where directors are elected by a plurality vote, a director nominee shall be
elected to the board if the votes cast “for” such nominee’s election exceed the votes cast “against” such nominee’s election. Subject to
any rights of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock pursuant to applicable law or the certificate of designations creating that series,
all voting rights are vested in the holders of shares of our Common Stock. Holders of shares of our Common Stock do not have
cumulative voting rights.
Rights Upon Liquidation
Upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, the holders of Common Stock are entitled to share ratably in our net assets
available after the payment of all debts and other liabilities, and after the satisfaction of the rights of any outstanding Preferred Stock.
Other Rights
Holders of our Common Stock have no preemptive, subscription, redemption or conversion rights, nor are they entitled to the
benefit of any sinking fund. The outstanding shares of Common Stock are validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable.
Preferred Stock
Our Board of Directors is authorized, without further action by our stockholders, to issue up to 3,000,000 shares of “blank
check” Preferred Stock, in one or more series, and to fix the designations, powers, preferences and the relative, participating, optional or
other special rights and any qualifications, limitations and restrictions of the shares of each series of Preferred Stock. The issuance of
Preferred Stock could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control, as well as decrease the amount of earnings
and assets available for distribution to holders of our Common Stock or otherwise adversely affect their rights and powers, including
voting rights. Of our currently authorized Preferred Stock, 100,000 shares are designated as Series A-1 Junior Participating Preferred
Stock in connection with the Company’s Section 382 Rights Plan (as defined below), which was adopted August 14, 2020, and 40,000
shares are designated as Series C Non-Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock, which were issued in connection with a rights offering
completed by the Company during October 2020.

Series A-1 Junior Participating Preferred Stock Purchase Rights
On August 14, 2020 (the “Rights Dividend Declaration Date”), the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company adopted a
Section 382 rights plan (the “Section 382 Rights Plan”) and declared a dividend distribution of one Right for each outstanding share of
Common Stock to stockholders of record at the close of business on August 24, 2020. Each Right entitles its holder, under certain
circumstances described below, to purchase from the Company one one-thousandth of a share of Series A-1 Junior Participating
Preferred Stock of the Company, par value $0.01 per share (the “Series A-1 Junior Participating Preferred Stock”), at an exercise price of
$1.20 per Right, subject to adjustment (the “Purchase Price”). The description and terms of the Rights are set forth in a Section 382
Rights Agreement, dated as of August 14, 2020, as amended on June 4, 2021 (with effect as of June 2, 2021) by and between the
Company and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as Rights Agent (the “Section 382 Rights Agreement”).
The Board adopted the Section 382 Rights Plan in an effort to protect stockholder value by attempting to protect against a
possible limitation on the Company’s ability to use its net operating loss carryforwards (“NOLs”). If the Company experiences an
“ownership change,” as defined in Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), the Company’s ability to
fully utilize the NOLs on an annual basis will be substantially limited, and the timing of the usage of the NOLs could be substantially
delayed, which could therefore significantly impair the value of those benefits. The Section 382 Rights Plan is intended to act as a
deterrent to any person (an “Acquiring Person”) acquiring (together with all affiliates and associates of such person) beneficial ownership
of 4.9% or more of the Company’s outstanding common stock within the meaning of Section 382 of the Code, without the approval of
the Board. Stockholders who beneficially own 4.9% or more of the Company’s outstanding common stock as of the Rights Dividend
Declaration Date will not be deemed to be an Acquiring Person.
The Rights
Initially, the Rights are associated with shares of Common Stock certificates or, in the case of uncertificated shares of Common
Stock, the book-entry account that evidences record ownership of such shares, which will contain a notation incorporating the
Section 382 Rights Plan by reference, and are transferable with and only with the underlying shares of Common Stock. New Rights will
attach to any shares of Common Stock that become outstanding after the Record Date and prior to the earlier of the Distribution Date (as
defined below) and the Expiration Date (as defined below). If Series A-1 Junior Participating Preferred Stock is issued upon exercise of
the Rights, each fractional share of Series A-1 Junior Participating Preferred Stock would give the stockholder approximately the same
dividend, voting and liquidation rights as does one share of Common Stock. However, prior to exercise, a Right does not give its holder
any rights as a stockholder of the Company, including any dividend, voting or liquidation rights.
Initial Exercisability
Subject to certain exceptions, the Rights are not exercisable until the “Distribution Date,” which occurs upon the earlier of:
●

the close of business on the tenth day after the “Stock Acquisition Date,” which is (a) the first date of public announcement
that an Acquiring Person has become such or (b) such earlier date as a majority of the Board has become aware of the
existence of an Acquiring Person (in each case, subject to certain exceptions), or

●

the close of business on the tenth business day (or such later date as may be determined by the Board prior to such time as
any person or group becomes an Acquiring Person) following the commencement of a tender offer or exchange offer
which, if consummated, would result in a person or group becoming an Acquiring Person.

Any existing stockholder or group that beneficially owned 4.9% or more of Common Stock as of August 14, 2020 has been
grandfathered at its current ownership level, but the Rights will not be exercisable if, at any time after the announcement of the
Section 382 Rights Plan, such stockholder or group increases its ownership of Common Stock by one share of Common Stock. Certain
synthetic interests in securities created by derivative positions, whether or not such interests are considered to be ownership of the
underlying Common Stock or are reportable for purposes of Regulation 13D of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, are
treated as beneficial ownership of the number of shares of Common Stock equivalent to the economic exposure created by the derivative
position, to the extent actual shares of Common Stock are directly or indirectly held by counterparties to the derivatives contracts.
Separation and Distribution of Rights
Until the earlier of the Distribution Date and the Expiration Date, the surrender for transfer of any shares of Common Stock will
also constitute the transfer of the Rights associated with those shares. As soon as practicable after the Distribution Date, separate rights
certificates will be mailed to holders of record of Common Stock as of the close of business on the Distribution Date. From and after the
Distribution Date, the separate rights certificates alone will represent the Rights, and the Rights may be transferred apart from the
transfer of the underlying shares of Common Stock, unless and until the Board has determined to effect an exchange pursuant to the
Section 382 Rights Agreement (as described below).

Expiration Date
The Section 382 Rights Agreement will expire on the earliest of the following:
●

the close of business on June 2, 2024 (the “Final Expiration Date”);

●

the redemption of the Rights;

●

the exchange of the Rights;

●

the close of business on the effective date of the repeal of Section 382 of the Code or any successor statute if the Board
determines that the Section 382 Rights Agreement is no longer necessary or desirable for the preservation of certain tax
benefits; or

●

the close of business on the first day of a taxable year to which the Board determines that no tax benefits may be carried
forward.

“Flip-In” Event
In the event that a person becomes an Acquiring Person (a “Flip-in Event”), each holder of a Right, other than Rights that are or,
under certain circumstances, were beneficially owned by the Acquiring Person (which will thereupon become void), will, from and after
the Distribution Date, have the right to receive, upon exercise of a Right and payment of the Purchase Price, a number of shares of
Common Stock having a market value of two times the Purchase Price.
For example, at an exercise price of $1.20 per Right, each Right not owned by an Acquiring Person (or certain related parties)
following a Flip-in Event will entitle its holder to purchase $2.40 worth of shares of Common Stock for $1.20. If the Common Stock at
the time of exercise had a market value per share of $0.20, the holder of each valid Right would be entitled to purchase twelve shares of
Common Stock for $1.20.
However, Rights are not exercisable following the occurrence of a person becoming an Acquiring Person until such time as the
Rights are no longer redeemable by the Company (as described below).
“Flip-Over” Event
In the event that, at any time following the Stock Acquisition Date, any of the following occurs (each, a “Flip-over Event”):
●

The Company consolidates with, or merges with and into, any other entity, and the Company is not the continuing or
surviving entity;

●

Any entity engages in a share exchange with or consolidates with, or merges with or into, the Company, and the Company
is the continuing or surviving entity and, in connection with such share exchange, consolidation or merger, all or part of the
outstanding shares of Common Stock are changed into or exchanged for stock or other securities of any other entity or cash
or any other property; or

●

The Company sells or otherwise transfers, in one transaction or a series of related transactions, fifty percent (50%) or more
of the Company’s assets, cash flow or earning power,

each holder of a Right (except Rights which previously have been voided as described above) will have the right to receive,
upon exercise, common stock of the acquiring company having a value equal to two times the exercise price of the Right.
Preferred Share Provisions
Each share of Series A-1 Junior Participating Preferred Stock, if issued: will not be redeemable, will entitle the holder thereof,
when, as and if declared, to quarterly dividend payments equal to the greater of $1.20 per share and 1,000 times the amount of all cash
dividends plus 1,000 times the amount of non-cash dividends or other distributions paid on one share of Common Stock, will entitle the
holder thereof to receive $1,200 plus accrued and unpaid dividends per share upon liquidation, will have the same voting power as 1,000
shares of Common Stock and, if shares of Common Stock are exchanged via merger, consolidation or a similar transaction, will entitle
the holder thereof to a per share payment equal to the payment made on 1,000 shares of Common Stock.

Exempted Persons and Exempted Transactions
The Board recognizes that there may be instances when an acquisition of shares of Common Stock that would cause a
stockholder to become an Acquiring Person may not jeopardize or endanger in any material respect the availability of the NOLs to the
Company. Accordingly, the Section 382 Rights Agreement provides that the following “Exempted Persons” cannot become an Acquiring
Person:
●

The Company or any of its subsidiaries;

●

Any officer, director or employee of the Company or any of its subsidiaries solely in respect of such person’s status or
authority as such;

●

Any employee benefit plan of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any entity or trustee holding (or acting in a
fiduciary capacity in respect of) shares of capital stock of the Company for or pursuant to the terms of any such plan, or for
the purpose of funding other employee bene-fits for employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries; and

●

Any other person (together with all of its affiliates and associates) whose beneficially ownership of 4.9% or more of the
then outstanding shares of Common Stock will not jeopardize or endanger the availability to the Company of any tax
benefit, as determined by the Board in its sole discretion prior to the time any person becomes an Acquiring Person;
provided, however, that the Board can revoke such person’s “Exempted Person Status” if it subsequently makes a contrary
determination regarding whether the person jeopardizes or endangers the availability of any tax benefit to the Company.

Additionally, the Section 382 Rights Agreement provides that an “Exempted Transaction,” as determined by the Board, cannot
result in a person becoming an Acquiring Person.
Redemption
At any time prior to the earlier of (1) the Stock Acquisition Date and (2) the Final Expiration Date, the Company may redeem
the Rights in whole, but not in part, at a price of $0.01 per Right (the “Redemption Price”) (subject to adjustment). The redemption of the
Rights may be made effective at such time, on such basis and with such conditions as the Board in its sole discretion may establish.
Immediately upon any redemption of the Rights (or such later time as the Board may establish), the Right to exercise the Rights will
terminate, and the only right of the holders of Rights will be to receive the Redemption Price for each Right so held.
Exchange
At any time after any person or group becomes an Acquiring Person and prior to the acquisition by the Acquiring Person of
50% or more of the outstanding shares of Common Stock, the Board may exchange the Rights (other than Rights that are void), in whole
or in part, at an exchange ratio equal to (i) a number of shares of Common Stock per Right with a value equal to the spread between the
value of the number of shares of Common Stock for which the Rights may then be exercised and the Purchase Price or (ii) if prior to the
acquisition by the Acquiring Person of 50% or more of the then-outstanding shares of Common Stock, one share of Common Stock per
Right (subject to adjustment). Immediately upon an exchange of any Rights, the right to exercise such Rights will terminate and the only
right of the holders of Rights will be to receive the number of shares of Common Stock equal to the number of such Rights held by such
holder multiplied by an exchange ratio.
Anti-Dilution Provisions
The Board may adjust the Purchase Price of the Series A-1 Junior Participating Preferred Stock, the number of shares of
Series A-1 Junior Participating Preferred Stock issuable and the number of outstanding Rights to prevent dilution that may occur as a
result of certain events, including among others, a share dividend, a share split or a reclassification of the Series A-1 Junior Participating
Preferred Stock or of the Common Stock. With certain exceptions, no adjustments to the Purchase Price will be required until cumulative
adjustments amount to at least 1% of the Purchase Price.
Amendments
Prior to the Distribution Date, the Board may supplement or amend any provision of the Section 382 Rights Agreement in any
respect without the approval of the holders of the Rights. From and after the Distribution Date, no amendment can materially adversely
affect the interests of the holders of the Rights (excluding the interests of any Acquiring Person).
Other Provisions of Our Certificate and By-Laws and State Law Provisions That May Have Anti-Takeover Effects
Advance Notice Provisions
Our By-Laws provide that a stockholder must notify us in writing, within timeframes specified in the By-Laws, of any
stockholder nomination of a director and of any other business that the stockholder intends to bring at a meeting of stockholders.

Amendments to Bylaws
Our Certificate and By-Laws provide that our By-Laws may be amended by our Board or by vote of the holders of the shares
entitled to vote in the election of directors.
Changes to Board and Vacancies
Our By-Laws provide that directors may be removed only for cause by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the
shares then entitled to vote at an election of directors. The By-Laws also provide that the number of directors may be increased or
decreased, within established limits, by affirmative vote of a majority of the whole Board. Under our Certificate, any vacancy on the
Board, however occurring, including a vacancy resulting from an enlargement of the Board, may only be filled by vote of a majority of
the directors then in office, whether or not a quorum.
State Law Provisions
In general, Section 203 of the DGCL prohibits a Delaware corporation with a class of voting stock listed on a national securities
exchange or held of record by 2,000 or more shareholders from engaging in a business combination with an interested stockholder
(generally, the beneficial owner of 15% or more of the corporation’s outstanding voting stock) for three years following the time the
stockholder became an interested stockholder, unless, prior to that time: (1) the corporation’s board of directors approved either the
business combination or the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, (2) at least two-thirds of the
outstanding shares not owned by that interested stockholder approve the business combination, or (3) upon becoming an interested
stockholder, that stockholder owned at least 85% of the outstanding shares, excluding those held by officers, directors and some
employee stock plans. A “business combination” includes a merger, asset sale, or other transaction resulting in a financial benefit, other
than proportionately as a stockholder, to the interested stockholder.

Exhibit 10.7
FIRST AMENDMENT TO THE
SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED BY-LAWS
OF
ENZON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

On February 24, 2022, the Board of Directors of Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the
“Corporation”), unanimously approved and adopted the following amendment to the Corporation’s Second
Amended and Restated By-Laws (the “By-Laws”) to be effective immediately:
1. Section 3.2 of the By-Laws is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:
The Board shall consist of at least one but no more than fifteen directors, the exact number of directors to be
determined from time to time by resolution adopted by affirmative vote of a majority of the whole Board and such
exact number shall be two until otherwise determined by resolution adopted by affirmative vote of a majority of
the whole Board. As used in this Article 3, the term “whole Board” means the total number of directors which the
Corporation would have if there were no vacancies.
2. Except as set forth herein, all other provisions of the By-Laws shall remain in full force and effect.

EXHIBIT 21.1
ENZON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
Subsidiaries of Registrant
Subsidiary
SCA Ventures, Inc.

State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation
Delaware

EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements of Enzon Pharmaceutical Inc. and Subsidiaries on Form S-1
(No. 333-250031) of our report dated February 25, 2022, on our audits of the consolidated financial statements as of year ended
December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 and for each of the years then ended, which report is included in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K to be filed on or about February 25, 2022.
/s/ EisnerAmper LLP
EISNERAMPER LLP
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
February 25, 2022

EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I,

Richard L. Feinstein, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 of Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

4.

I am responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:
(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
my supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under my supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report my conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and
(d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.

I have disclosed, based on my most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

February 25, 2022

/s/ Richard L. Feinstein
Richard L. Feinstein
Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary
(Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer)

EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. §1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2021 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Richard L. Feinstein,
Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:
1.

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2.

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations
of the Company.

February 25, 2022

/s/ Richard L. Feinstein
Richard L. Feinstein
Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary
(Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to
Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and will be furnished to the Securities Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

